
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW SELECT COMMITTEE 
 
DATE: MONDAY, 1 DECEMBER 2025  
TIME: 5:30 pm 
PLACE: Meeting Room G.01, Ground Floor, City Hall, 115 Charles 

Street, Leicester, LE1 1FZ 
 
 
 
Members of the Committee 
 
Councillor Joel (Chair) 
  
 
Councillors Batool, Dave, Kitterick, March, O'Neill, Osman, Pickering, Porter, 
Rae Bhatia, Waddington and Zaman 
 
 
Members of the Committee are invited to attend the above meeting to consider 
the items of business listed overleaf. 

 
For Monitoring Officer 
 
 
 
 
 

Officer contacts: 
  

Julie Bryant and Ed Brown (Governance Services),  
E-mail: edmund.brown@leicester.gov.uk or Julie.bryant@leicester.gov.uk 

Leicester City Council, 115 Charles Street, Leicester, LE1 1FZ 

 



 

Information for members of the public 
 
Attending meetings and access to information 
 
You have the right to attend formal meetings such as full Council, committee meetings, City Mayor & 
Executive Public Briefing and Scrutiny Commissions and see copies of agendas and minutes. On 
occasion however, meetings may, for reasons set out in law, need to consider some items in private.  
 
Dates of meetings and copies of public agendas and minutes are available on the Council’s website 
at www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk, from the Council’s Customer Service Centre or by contacting us 
using the details below.  
 
Making meetings accessible to all 
 
Wheelchair access – Public meeting rooms at the City Hall are accessible to wheelchair users.  
Wheelchair access to City Hall is from the middle entrance door on Charles Street - press the plate on 
the right hand side of the door to open the door automatically. 
 
Braille/audio tape/translation - If you require this please contact the Governance Services Officer 
(production times will depend upon equipment/facility availability). 
 
Induction loops - There are induction loop facilities in City Hall meeting rooms.  Please speak to the 
Governance Services Officer using the details below. 
 
Filming and Recording the Meeting - The Council is committed to transparency and supports efforts to 
record and share reports of proceedings of public meetings through a variety of means, including 
social media. In accordance with government regulations and the Council’s policy, persons and press 
attending any meeting of the Council open to the public (except Licensing Sub Committees and where 
the public have been formally excluded) are allowed to record and/or report all or part of that meeting.  
Details of the Council’s policy are available at www.leicester.gov.uk or from Governance Services. 
 
If you intend to film or make an audio recording of a meeting you are asked to notify the relevant 
Governance Services Officer in advance of the meeting to ensure that participants can be notified in 
advance and consideration given to practicalities such as allocating appropriate space in the public 
gallery etc. 
 
The aim of the Regulations and of the Council’s policy is to encourage public interest and 
engagement so in recording or reporting on proceedings members of the public are asked: 
✓ to respect the right of others to view and hear debates without interruption; 
✓ to ensure that the sound on any device is fully muted and intrusive lighting avoided; 
✓ where filming, to only focus on those people actively participating in the meeting; 
✓ where filming, to (via the Chair of the meeting) ensure that those present are aware that they 

may be filmed and respect any requests to not be filmed. 
 
Further information  
 
If you have any queries about any of the above or the business to be discussed, please contact: 
Ed Brown or Julie Bryant, Governance Services on Edmund.brown@leicester.gov.uk or 
Julie.bryant@leicester.gov.uk.  Alternatively, email governance@leicester.gov.uk, or call in at City 
Hall. 
 
For Press Enquiries - please phone the Communications Unit on 0116 454 4151. 
 

http://www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk/
http://www.leicester.gov.uk/
mailto:Edmund.brown@leicester.gov.uk
mailto:Julie.bryant@leicester.gov.uk


 

 
 
 

PUBLIC SESSION 
 

AGENDA 
 
NOTE: 
 
This meeting will be webcast live at the following link:- 

 
http://www.leicester.public-i.tv 

 
An archive copy of the webcast will normally be available on the Council’s 
website within 48 hours of the meeting taking place at the following link:-  
 

http://www.leicester.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcasts 
 
 

FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION 
 
If the emergency alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building immediately by the 
nearest available fire exit and proceed to the area outside the Ramada Encore Hotel 
on Charles Street as directed by Democratic Services staff. Further instructions will 
then be given. 

 
 

  
1. WELCOME AND APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

 To issue a welcome to those present, and to confirm if there are any apologies 
for absence.  
  

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 

 Members are asked to declare any interests they may have in the business to 
be discussed.  
  

3. CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

 

 The Chair is invited to make any announcements as they see fit.    
  

4. EXECUTIVE RESPONSE - SCRUTINY REVIEW - A 
REVIEW OF SUPPORT FOR ADVENTURE 
PLAYGROUNDS  

 

Appendix A 

 An Executive Response will be provided to the recommendations made by the 
Task Group on Support for Adventure Playgrounds.  
  

http://www.leicester.public-i.tv/
http://www.leicester.public-i.tv/core/portal/webcasts


 

5. EXECUTIVE RESPONSE - SCRUTINY REVIEW - A 
REVIEW OF THE CHANGES TO THE COUNCIL TAX 
SUPPORT SCHEME  

 

Appendix B 

 An Executive Response will be provided to the recommendations made by the 
Task Group on Changes to the Council Tax Support Scheme.  
  

6. CORPORATE ESTATE ANNUAL REPORT FY24/25  
 

Appendix C 

 The Director of Estates & Building Services submits the Corporate Estate 
Annual Report for the 2024/25 Financial Year.  
  

7. DOMESTIC ABUSE AND SEXUAL VIOLENCE IN 
LEICESTER - BRIEFING  

 

Appendix D 

 The Strategic Director of Social Care and Education submits a report updating 
the Committee on local domestic abuse need, the types of service currently 
available locally, the approach in Leicester and plans to continue to better meet 
local need.  
 

 



Executive response to OSC task group on the review of support 
to adventure playgrounds 
1 December 2025 
 

In February 2025 I made a decision to extend grants to play associations until March 
2026.  I welcome the formation of an OSC task group to review the wider support to 
the adventure playgrounds and its carefully composed conclusions. 

For several decades the adventure playgrounds have given incredibly valuable play 
and educational opportunities for young people. Although most other authorities 
stopped providing support some years ago, Leicester City Council has continued to 
provide financial assistance while suffering an unprecedented loss of funding 
capacity and having to cease all comparable support to third sector organisations.  

The financial risk that exists for the adventure playgrounds cannot be fully known to 
the local authority. Risks and financial liabilities may extend beyond the revenue that 
is needed to operate the playground. Given this, it is not possible to calculate and 
underwrite those risks. Sadly, given the financial outlook for the authority, cost 
reductions must be found in discretionary services. If the financial position were 
different for the council, the continuation of grants for commissioning of play activities 
would certainly be a very high priority. That is not the current reality. 

As a result of the extension of funding, there has been scope within this year’s grant 
allocations for play associations to use the funding flexibly, including using 
professional services such as bid writers to help seek further funds.  That financial 
support does not need to be used in this financial year and the associations will be 
free to reserve money for such activity in future years. Certainly, if the authority 
becomes aware of funding opportunities, then we would pass that on to play 
associations and support applications. 

With respect to security of tenure, the current provision of five-year licences has 
been entered into with all play associations based on business cases that 
demonstrate sustained viability.  This provides a degree of security but with 
increased flexibility for all parties.  It removes significant exposure to the groups, 
such as the responsibility for repairs and maintenance of the external envelope of 
the building. 

Some groups have, however, argued that this five-year agreement hampers their 
fund raising and that longer term security is necessary. I am very sympathetic to this 
and, following a meeting with Locality, the community support organisation, have 
asked officers to write to all playgrounds asking them if they believe a longer-term 
agreement would be advantageous.   I also asked officers to remind the playgrounds 
that such a longer-term agreement, or our community asset transfer, might present 
issues for the play associations in terms of repair liabilities and might, in some cases, 
be constrained where the playgrounds are on land that has parkland status or 
covenants.  

1

Appendix A



Under the council’s policy, community asset transfer would also require an open 
tender, which would of course be open to potential alternative providers and not just 
the current play associations. 

I look forward to a day when councils like Leicester will again be able to support and 
to provide youth and play facilities.  Sadly, the prospect of revenue being sufficient to 
do so does not seem likely in the immediate future. 

 

 

Peter Soulsby 

City Mayor 

2



Executive response to OSC task group on the Council Tax 
Support Scheme (CTSS) 
1 December 2025 
 

In April 2025 the council introduced the new Council Tax Support Scheme, aimed at 
being fairer and providing our most vulnerable households with 100% support. As 
part of this decision, I welcomed the formation of an OSC task group to review the 
implementation of the scheme and monitor its impact. 

Following consideration of evidence from officers, the OSC task group made the 
following recommendations: 

• For households where both partners receive a PIP, to exclude 50% of PIP 
from the calculation of liability to pay council tax. 

• For households with four or more children, the first income band is increased 
from the current £250 to a proposed £300. This would provide support at 
100% for vulnerable households or up to 80% for non-vulnerable. 

• The additional £250k of the discretionary support scheme be extended 
beyond the two years. 

 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the task group for the work they have 
completed. I have carefully considered each proposal and will address each 
recommendation in turn.  

The council automatically excludes 50% of PIP income of households where both 
partners receive PIP, through the discretionary support scheme (DSS). This 
approach ensures consistency for households while allowing the council to maintain 
flexibility in how support is delivered, so that assistance continues to reflect 
household need, and the principles of fairness and sustainability. 

Whilst I recognise the additional costs that families with more than three children 
may face, at this time I do not feel it is appropriate to change the scheme. The DSS 
remains the more appropriate mechanism for assessing support for larger families, 
as it allows the council to consider individual household affordability in a more 
rounded way, rather than simply by applying a standard allowance based on the 
number of children. This ensures that support is targeted to those genuinely in 
financial hardship, as some households with four or more children may have higher 
overall incomes or savings. I would therefore continue to encourage any households 
that are struggling with their council tax to contact the council as soon as possible to 
discuss discretionary support.  

 

The council will continue to review the DSS budget annually, to ensure it remains 
sufficient to meet demand under the current policy. The DSS is not a capped fund, 

3

Appendix B



and the council is legally required to provide support to all households that qualify for 
assistance under the scheme. This means that eligible applications will always be 
honoured, regardless of the level of demand within any given year.  

Finally, I would like to emphasise that I am committed to reviewing the Council Tax 
Support Scheme annually, with particular importance next spring, when it has been 
in operation for a full year. 

 

Peter Soulsby 

City Mayor 

 

4



  

 

 

 

 

Corporate Estate 
Annual Report 

FY24/25 
Overview Select Committee 

 

 

Date of meeting: 1 December 2025 

 

Lead director: Matthew Wallace,  
Director of Estates & Building Services 

 
 
 
 

5

Appendix C



 

 

◼ Report authors: Matthew Wallace, Director of Estates & Building Services; 

Kathryn Ellis, Head of Strategic Property 

◼ Author contact details: Matthew.Wallace@leicester.gov.uk; 
Kathryn.Ellis@leicester.gov.uk 

◼ Report version number: FINAL 

 

1. Summary 
 
The Corporate Estate Annual Report for FY24/25 is provided to the Overview Select 
Committee to note the report.  
 
The Corporate Estate is the Council’s investment estate which comprised 1,218 lease 
arrangements, based on a portfolio broadly categorised as retail, offices, industrial and 
‘other’.  
 
The Council have invested in commercial real estate for over 100 years and income 
derived from the portfolio is used to support the Council’s statutory services. The report is 
provided retrospectively, looking back at the estate’s performance in the prior financial 
year. The full report is produced in October/November each following year.  
 
The resilience of our investments across The Corporate Estate continues to remain strong 
despite the economic uncertainty across investment markets in this particular financial 
year.  
 
The Corporate Estate continues to provide for a ‘very good’ economic investment, 
performing well above CCLA (Churches, Charities and Local Authorities) benchmarking 
which is rated ‘good’, bringing with it a solid year of results in the performance of our 
portfolio in a challenging market.  
 
Whilst the economy continued to be challenged by geopolitical uncertainties during the 
period reviewed, it’s impact and pressure on our financial performance has been well 
controlled, with demand and occupation remaining high and voids remaining low.   
 
The portfolio is managed through a commitment to sustainable and ethical investment 
practices, considering Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) factors.  
 

 

2. Recommended actions/decision 
 
To note the report. 
 

 

3. Scrutiny  
 
Overview Select Committee. 
 

 
  

6

mailto:Matthew.Wallace@leicester.gov.uk
mailto:Kathryn.Ellis@leicester.gov.uk


 

 

4. Financial, legal, equalities, climate emergency and other implications 
 
4.1 Financial implications 

Contained within the report, please see page 41. 
 

Signed: Stuart McAvoy, Head of Finance 

Dated: 07.11.25 

 
4.2 Legal implications  

This is an update report on the performance of the Corporate Estate standard practices. 
Individual transactions are dealt with on a case-by-case basis during normal business 
operations. 
 

Signed: Zoe Iliffe, Principal Lawyer, Property, Highways and Planning 

Dated: 07.11.25 

 
4.3 Equalities implications  

 

The Corporate Estate is made up of 1,218 lease arrangements in 2024/25. The estate 
represents all areas of the city and provides members of the public within Leicester, 
Leicestershire and nationally with opportunities to lease buildings from the Council. This 
includes new business start-ups and more established retailers, providing a wide range of 
businesses with retail, office, industrial and ‘other’ accommodation. The procurement of 
leases is provided through strict and rigorous assessment of bidding tenants that is 
governed by the Council’s constitution and the Local Government Act 1972 S.123.  

The process relates to the procurement of commercial leases and the application of 
financial and legal criteria for tenancy and therefore does not have any direct equality 
implications for the protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010. 

It is paramount that the lease procurement process, including all documentation and 
communication, is accessible and fair to all potential tenants, regardless of their 
background or business size. The Council is committed to ensuring that the application 
process does not create barriers to participation. 

Signed: Equalities Officer, Surinder Singh, Ext 37 4148 

Dated: 07.11.25 

 
4.4 Climate Emergency implications 

 

Contained within the report and supported by the Assistant City Mayor for Environment and 
Transport, please see pages 39-40. 
 

Signed: Joanne Allen, Head of Business Performance and Sustainability 

Dated:  07.11.25 

 

5.  Background information and other papers: 

The Corporate Estate Annual Report FY24/25 
 

7



 

 

6.  Is this a private report (If so, please indicate the reasons and state why it is not in 
the public interest to be dealt with publicly)?  
No 

 

7.  Is this a “key decision”? If so, why?  

No 

8



 

1 

Corporate Estate Annual Report 

for the Year Ended March 2025 

 

  

9



 

2 

Contents 

 

1. FOREWORD FROM THE DIRECTOR ............................................................................................ 3 

2. Background to the Council’s Land and Property Holdings ......................................................... 4 

3. Executive Summary ................................................................................................................... 9 

4. Understanding Our Corporate Estate ...................................................................................... 11 

Portfolio Key Facts .................................................................................................................. 11 

Scope of the Estate ................................................................................................................. 12 

5. VALUATION ............................................................................................................................. 20 

6. PORTFOLIO PERFORMANCE .................................................................................................... 22 

Occupancy: .............................................................................................................................. 22 

Revenue Performance: ............................................................................................................ 23 

Gross Rental Income - Corporate Estate Income by Sector: .................................................... 24 

Yield in Detail: ......................................................................................................................... 34 

The Haymarket Shopping Centre: ........................................................................................... 37 

7. CLIMATE EMERGENCY ............................................................................................................. 39 

8. FINANCIAL STATEMENT........................................................................................................... 41 

Corporate Estate Out-turn for the Year Ending 31 March 2025: .............................................. 41 

9. MANAGING RISK ..................................................................................................................... 42 

10. FUTURE OUTLOOK AND STRATEGY FOR 2024/2025 ................................................................ 43 

Market Commentary: .............................................................................................................. 53 

11. CLOSING STATEMENT .............................................................................................................. 61 

 

  

10



 

3 

1. FOREWORD FROM THE DIRECTOR 

 

Welcome to Leicester City Council’s Corporate Estate Annual Report for the 

year ended March 2025. 

In closing the financial year 2024/25, we present a set of very positive results 

for the Council’s commercial real estate portfolio against a testing prior year 

for the sector. The year started slowly as commercial real estate markets 

began to stabilise against a backdrop geopolitical and economic uncertainty, 

albeit unevenly across sectors.  

Our commercial real estate portfolio performance this year echoes that of the 

wider sentiment of the UK market analysts, demonstrating the stabilisation of performance coupled 

with steady rental growth, which has contributed to a positive shift in overall returns. With an 

average gross yield of 7.96% across the whole portfolio being considered a very good result 

compared to national benchmarks. Managing the pressure around operational running costs and the 

wider economic impact on our tenants, has been driven by higher utility and maintenance/ 

construction costs as we continue to drive our sustainability and quality agendas forwards. However, 

geopolitical uncertainties, the lingering impact of higher interest rates, and evolving workplace 

trends for traditional offices have tempered a full-scale rebound.   

The overall valuation of our portfolio has seen a positive increase, increasing by nearly 5% to £154m 

for 24/25.  At £12.3m our gross rental income has seen excellent growth, being up by 9% from last 

year. The successful continuation of a focussed lease review programme has enabled us to engage 

more closely and meaningfully with our tenants, to support them in navigating market challenges. 

The upsurge in global utility costs alongside increasing repairs and maintenance costs have resulted 

in operational management and running costs increasing which naturally impacts business viability. 

Combined with increased NI costs, this has challenged business viability. Despite these challenges, 

we achieved a net operating income of £6.1m providing for a positive, solid return.  

The Council’s Corporate Estate portfolio has been built over a century of investment and it’s fair to 

say that we are in it for the long-haul. We will continue to invest and dis-invest locally, pro-actively  

managing our portfolio purposefully, yet empathetically, to ensure we support our tenants and the 

long-term economic prosperity of Leicester. We continue to operate our portfolio commercially, 

with a major and continued focus on Environmental, Social, Governance (ESG) as we seek to protect 

and create value by reducing our carbon footprint in order to meet our net zero targets. With top 

performers in the retail and industrial sectors returning strong rental growth and a positive return to 

capital growth, coupled with new investment in office and industrial spaces such as Blackbird Road 

Industrial Estate, the city’s future remains positive with signs of recovery as interest rates fall.  

In closing, the commercial property outlook for 2025/26 shows tentative signs of recovery, and I am 

cautiously encouraged by growing signs of confidence returning to the main commercial real estate 

sectors. Leicester’s fundamentals as a City, such as location, infrastructure and regeneration 

ambition allow us to maintain a strong position for growth. We will continue to guide our public-

sector ambition of strengthening Leicester’s commercial real estate portfolio through 2025 and 

beyond. 

 

Matthew Wallace BSc (Hons), MBA, DipProjMan, FRICS 

Director of Estates and Building Services  

11



 

4 

2. Background to the Council’s Land and Property Holdings 

 

Leicester City Council holds a diverse portfolio of land and property assets ranging from historic 

buildings such as the 13th century Guildhall to the more recent strategic investments for The 

Corporate Estate of the Haymarket Shopping Centre in 2019/20 and The Heathers Industrial Estate 

in 2023/24. For the most-part, however, the wider estate owned by the Council is held and managed 

in order to provide front line services for the city’s residents in the form of homes, schools, leisure 

centres, and neighbourhood centres as well as Green Flag parks, playgrounds and open spaces 

providing areas for leisure and recreation. There is also critical infrastructure such as bridges, 

footpaths, cycle paths and car parks that aid the smooth running of the city.  

The grouping of land and property assets, known as the Corporate Estate, is held for commercial 

reasons. It is the Council’s investment portfolio that is managed in-house, and provides local 

businesses with commercial premises, offices, shops, industrial units, and workspaces for new 

business start-ups, which generates an income for the Council that is used to re-invest in its services.  

 

The Council’s Property Holdings 

 

HOLDING   DETAILS 

 The Operational Estate  

  

  

 The land and property held to support the main business of the Council, including: 

• property utilised for the provision of front-line services to the public such 
as museums, libraries, leisure centres, and neighbourhood centres; 

• playgrounds, parks and open spaces; 

• property leased to community groups and charities; 

• property occupied by Council staff in order to support delivery of Council 
services – such as City Hall, Town Hall and Council depots; 

• cultural, historical and heritage assets. 

 Schools   Includes both community and maintained schools as well as academy schools. 

 Housing   The Council’s housing stock.       

 Highways    Includes roads, footpaths and bridges as well as land and buildings that may be  

 required for future transport development schemes.    

 Strategic/Regeneration   Property and land acquired for strategic purposes, to promote regeneration and  

 redevelopment of the city. 

 The Corporate Estate  The land and properties held by the Council for income generation which supports 

general Council services, rather than to provide accommodation for the Council or 

direct services to the communities. Provides a wide range of accommodation for 

local businesses. 

  

This annual report focusses on the performance of the Corporate Estate for the financial year from  

1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025.  

12



 

5 

 

The Corporate Estate — A Long-Term Investment  

Leicester City Council has been investing in land and property for generations, enabled by the special 

powers afforded through parliament, including the 1956 Leicester Corporation Act that gave the 

Leicester Corporation the powers to buy, sell and manage land and property for highways, education, 

planning and investment purposes, and more recently — in terms of holding and managing land and 

property for investment purposes — the Local Government Act 1972.  

The Council’s Corporate Estate, and our investments in and management of land and property has 

benefited from our successful long-term strategic planning of the portfolio. As opposed to other local 

authorities that in recent years have been taking significant risk when it comes to their investment in 

property and continue to be reliant on their investments to shore up gaps in their budgets.  

Whilst other investors are significantly influenced by how the market is performing at any given 

time, as a public body we can take a long-term view of the needs of the city — something that other 

investors are not always able to consider. The benefits we receive today, in terms of a growth in 

value and income to the Council, along with our ability to bring forward land for redevelopment, are 

a direct result of the prudent investment and wise management of the Corporate Estate portfolio 

throughout the years.  

Our FY 2024/25 report demonstrates clearly why our long-term views, and balanced approach are 

working well and will continue to do so in the years to come. 

 

 

13



 

6 

 

The Corporate Estate — the Council’s investment portfolio — is a small part of a broad range of 

Leicester City Council land and property holdings, making up 12% of the overall capital asset 

valuation* of the Estates & Building Services estate (excluding housing and highways).  

 

CHART 1 – ESTATES AND BUILDING SERVICES ASSET BASE 

 

 

The Estates & Building Services (EBS) capital asset base is valued at £1.26 billion in 2024/25 

(this includes: Schools (37%), Operational (41%), Corporate Estate (12%), Regeneration (10%)).  

The EBS capital asset base excludes Highways and Public Realm (£1.8bn) and Housing (£1.2bn).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

* The FY24/25 Annual Audit of Assets is in progress and will complete in October 2025. For the 

purpose of this report, the figures contained within for valuation will not be formally signed off until 

reported to Governance & Audit Committee in November 2025, therefore all figures and assumptions 

are subject to audit. 

14



 

7 

Economic Regeneration Workspaces 

 

 

The land and property in the Corporate Estate portfolio is held for investment purposes, e.g. for the 

benefit of the city and the generation of ongoing revenue income to support Council services. There 

are also Council-managed workspaces that sit outside of the Corporate Estate portfolio that are held 

for economic regeneration purposes and let out to local businesses. Whilst both portfolios generate 

revenue income to invest back into Council services, and both benefit from high occupancy and 

strong demand, it is useful to understand the difference between the two portfolios in terms of their 

main aims.  

The economic regeneration workspace portfolio focuses primarily on supporting the growth of 

priority economic sectors with the service directly managing nine workspaces: LCB Depot, Makers 

Yard, Phoenix Square Workspace, Dock 1-5 and Gresham Works. This provides a total of  

137,000 sq ft of lettable space for local small businesses. This includes new workspaces at Dock 3, 4 

and 5 which opened in September 2024 during the period of this 2024/25 Annual Report. Two 

workspaces with outsourced management via East Midlands Chamber — Leicester Food Park and 

Friars Mill — provide a further 36,500 sq ft of lettable space. A new workspace, Canopy is due to 

open in Autumn 2025. 

 

These workspaces are effective in delivering the following:  

• Helping to reposition Leicester’s economy to grow knowledge-based sectors, including creative 

industries and innovation/technology businesses.  

• Significant job creation performance, supporting over 800 jobs in tenant businesses, rising to over 

1,100 jobs with the delivery of the new schemes when they ultimately reach full occupancy. 

15



 

8 

• Providing a physical focus for clustering, networking, and collaborative working — there is 

evidence that this increases the survival rate for small businesses who are tenants. For example, the 

LCB Depot has been driving the delivery of Design Season over recent years, an annual showcase for 

the city’s design strengths. 

Workspaces have proved an effective mechanism to kick start the delivery of regeneration areas, 

particularly through raising investor confidence and ultimately stimulating other private sector 

investment. This has been the case with St George’s Cultural Quarter, Pioneer Park/Space City and 

Waterside, where workspaces have been the first key regeneration intervention. 

The Corporate Estate on the other hand consists of a diverse portfolio with a range of long- and 

short-term leases in order to balance out risk. It is managed as a commercial operation whilst 

making a significant contribution to the Council’s commitment to support the local economy, 

maintaining a retail presence in the city centre and neighbourhoods, and supporting local businesses 

by providing a range of accommodation with space for new business start-up to grow on locally, 

maintaining good employment prospects in the city.  

The largest single sector portfolio in terms of numbers is the office portfolio with 470 lettable units, 

whilst the four managed workspace buildings house more than 250 lettable units. There are 363 

industrial units and almost 300 retail units — more than a third of which are neighbourhood shops. 

The Corporate Estate all sectors have remained reasonably static year-on-year. There are a further 

164 ‘other’ assets that are neither office, industrial nor retail sectors which includes assets such as 

agricultural holdings and exceptional leasing such as for services and ad-hoc infrastructure. 

 

    

16



 

9 

3. Executive Summary 

 

The commercial property market in the UK is well-established and, despite the commercial real estate 

market experiencing a steep drop-in buyer activity in FY23/24, a modest recovery was expected in 

FY24/25 albeit with some anticipated variation by sector. The downward shift in interest rates in 

August 24, November 24 and February 25 had hoped to improve investment opportunities from a wide 

range of investors including local authorities, pension funds, and high net-worth individuals in FY24/25, 

however, barriers continued to impact investment and development of commercial real estate with 

the market disinvesting in secondary offices and redeveloping these buildings for housing.  

The market offers a wide spread of yields that are influenced by both the quality of the assets (e.g., 

location, sector, condition, supply, and demand) as well as the associated investment risk. A low-risk 

investment for example would be well-located and leased at a market rent to financially stable 

tenants on a lease that has more than 10 years until expiry. Whilst net yield is important in 

determining the actual profitable return achieved, running costs can fluctuate dependent on how 

efficiently land and property is managed. As a result, gross yield is generally used to compare the 

financial performance of property investments. 5-6% is considered ‘good’ rental yield with above 6% 

being considered ‘very good’. This years’ results of 7.96% gross yield demonstrates that the Council’s 

commercial real estate holdings are considered ‘very good’ against a variable UK financial backdrop. 

The Corporate Estate is a long-term investment portfolio consisting of the land and property held 

and directly managed by Leicester City Council predominantly for income generation to support 

wider Council services and for the most-part, let out at market (or market-competitive) rates.  

The portfolio is extremely broad and well-balanced, consisting of land, small business units, office 

space, car parks, industrial units, and city centre retail units/neighbourhood shops that are leased 

out to private sector organisations across the city. In addition, the Council leases out a significant 

amount of land that houses a variety of properties from warehouses and factories to sports facilities 

and sub-stations as well as agricultural holdings such as farms and grazing land.  

The Corporate Estate:  

• Continues to generate a stable and sustainable revenue income contribution — providing market-

competitive returns. Key economic factors such as stubborn inflation and utility costs continue to 

impact net income in FY24/25; however, yields remain strong and above benchmark averages. 

• Is a diverse portfolio — in line with the Council’s investment strategy that requires a balance of 

security, liquidity, and yield to minimise risk.  

• Certain assets require significant capital investment in order to maintain overall asset values and 

meet sustainability targets; necessary investment in repairs and maintenance continues to impact 

running costs.  

• Is wholly invested in our local economic area (Leicester and Leicestershire). 

• Includes land and property that is held for economic regeneration purposes (although the capital 

values are included in this report, income from these investments is not included as the properties 

are managed separately).  

• With a GIA (floor space) accounting for 17% of the Council’s estate holdings*, has a continued and 

significant role to play in our commitment to address the climate emergency. 

• Supports the local economy and local businesses by providing a range of competitively priced 

accommodation.  
 

*Excludes Housing, Highways and the Council’s investment in pooled property funds that are 

governed by Treasury Management.  

17



 

10 

Summary of Performance for the Year Ended 31 March 2025 

   

*Denotes very good performance against gross yield Benchmarks 

Yield Benchmarks used: 3.95 
• CCLA Local Authorities’ Property Fund (Annual Report March 2025) gross yield 4.92%. Up 0.37% on FY23/24. The 

CCLA benchmarks against the MSCI/AREF Property Fund Digest which returned a gross yield of 4.2%.  
 

Key Performance Factors 2024/2025 2023/2024 2022/2023 2021/2022 

Value of the Corporate Estate £154,399,607 £147,221,180 £151,109,437 £123,031,773 

Gross Income £12,288,765 £11,270,686 £11,462,492 £8,337,033 

Running / Management Costs £6,185,434 £5,593,788 £4,991,567 £2,479,083 

Net Income (contribution to 
the General Fund) 

£6,103,331 £5,676,898 £6,470,925 £5,857,950 

Net Yield 3.95% 3.86% 4.28% 4.76% 

Gross Yield 7.96% 7.66% 7.59% 6.78% 

Occupancy 95% 95.50% 96% 95% 

% of the Council’s Net 
revenue Budget 

1.51% 1.57% 2.02% 2.03% 

£154.4m 

Estate Value

£12.29m 

Gross 
Income

£6.18m 

Running / 
Managment 

Costs

£6.10m 
Net Income 

(Contribution to 
the General 

Fund)

*7.96% 

Gross Yield

95% 

Occupancy

1.51%
of the Council's 

Net revenue 
budget 

(low risk)

18



 

11 

 

4. Understanding our Corporate Estate in FY2024/25 

 

Portfolio Key Facts 

 

371 Sites  

(Including land) 
 

1,218 Lettable Units  

(Including land) 
 

£154.4m  

Valuation* at 31 March 2025 
 

1.625m sq ft / 150,990 sq m 

Total Gross Internal Area (GIA (floor space)) 
 

Accounts for 17% of the total GIA  

(floor space) of the estate owned by the Council 
 

119 Hectares / 294 Acres 

(excluding farm and agricultural land) 
 

£414,140 p/a Largest single rent  

(3.37% of gross rent) 
 

Net income has increased by 7.5% in FY24/25  
(Compares to CCLA Local Authorities’ Property Fund net income return of 5.1% (Annual Report 
March 2025). The CCLA benchmarks against the MSCI/AREF Property Fund Digest which returned  
a net income of 3.7%.) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

* The FY24/25 Annual Audit of Assets is in progress and will complete in October 2025. For the 

purpose of this report, the figures contained within for valuation will not be formally signed off until 

reported to Governance & Audit Committee in November 2025, therefore all figures and assumptions 

are subject to audit. 

19



 

12 

Scope of the Estate 

 

The Corporate Estate property portfolio provides a broad range of commercial space across the 

traditional office, retail, and industrial sectors, as well as a significant offering in terms of other less 

traditional space for rent including advertising hoardings, substations, grazing land, farms, garages, 

and car parks. 

The chart below shows that, in terms of actual sites, the Council holds 59% of its investment 

holdings in the industrial, retail and office sectors with the other 41% being a wide spread of other 

land and property (including a number of ground leases and long leases, land, car parks, substations 

and communication masts, as well as farmland and a handful of residential property (temporarily let 

while held for re-development purposes)). 

 

 CHART 2 – CORPORATE ESTATES SITES 

 

Sites 

Sector Sites 

Industrial 108  

Office 39 

Retail 73 

Other 152 

Total 371 

 

The classification of the estate looks different when we look at lettable units rather than sites. The 

broad range of assets held in the portfolio, including land that is let on long-term ground leases, 

provides the Council with a low-risk investment return.  

 

 

Industrial
108

Office
39

Other
152

Retail
73

Corporate Estate Sites

20



 

13 

 

As shown in the chart below, the largest single portfolio held by the Council for investment purposes 

is the secondary office market portfolio with 470 lettable units – representing 36% of our available 

units.  

The number of lettable units reduced from 1,263 to 1218 due to the closure of Pilot House (22 units) 

to make way for new business centre re-development of Canopy and due to the demolition of Abbey 

Court Industrial Units and compound (23 units). 

 

CHART 3 – CORPORATE ESTATE LETTABLE UNITS  

 

 

Sector Lettable Units 

Industrial (27%) 333  

Office (35%) 424 

Retail (25%) 299 

Other (13%) 162 

Total 1218 

Industrial
333

Office
424

Other
162

Retail
299

Corporate Estate Assets (Lettable Units)

21



 

14 

Compared side by side with the CCLA Local Authorities’ Annual Report for FY24/25 we can see in the 

Chart below, that there is a shift in sector comparators towards Industrial sector investment and 

away from Office investment with retail investment being reasonably static against last year.  

 

Industrial units make up 43.36% of the CCLA portfolio as compared to 27% of the Corporate Estate. 

The Council have similarly made significant capital investment in industrial sector growth for future 

years to develop new industrial sites in the future – which will increase this investment figure over 

the next two years. The Blackbird Road Industrial Estate completed in October 2024 and supports 

ESG through the introduction of green leases. Letting of these units began in earnest, with results 

expected to show in FY25/26. 

The Office sector makes up 17.65% of the CCLA portfolio compared to 35% in the Corporate Estate, 

up from 34% last year. The significant difference here is the movement of Grade B/secondary 

operational offices into the Corporate Estate for letting into the office market. This initially proved 

difficult to let post-covid, due to market requirements for Grade A offices, smaller office footprints, 

with ESG being at the forefront of requirements with net zero carbon buildings being in highest 

demand. However, the market has shown an improvement in Grade B office interest locally 

especially for training and education and some government office purposes as general national 

disinvestment in the office sector has reduced market availability. In line with the national market 

trends, the Council’s strategy remains firm in ensuring that our office stock is asset reviewed with a 

priority focus on disposal to the HRA for Housing re-development (wherever possible) or via disposal 

where conversion to residential isn’t competitive when compared to private investment and with 

meeting the highest EPC ratings. There is also a shift in market trend to increase in the return to the 

workplace, with most companies now insisting on a minimum presence in the office of three 

working days (driven largely by efficiency, mental health impacts, and team-building contact for 

junior members of staff/apprentices/new employees). The Council has therefore brought back into 

use (rather than dispose of) secondary office based on regeneration and solid government office 

investment demand for its secondary office space. The Council continues to work with its One Public 

Estate partnerships across Leicester City and Leicestershire to promote, wherever practicable, a 

positive approach to disposal and investment across all portfolios to enhance local services.  

Investment in the Retail sector by the CCLA’s fund of 19.42% compares to 25% in the Corporate 

Estate with the CCLA’s main retail investment in large out of town retail warehousing nationally 

compared to the predominantly local retail and neighbourhood retail shops within the Council’s 

investment portfolio. The investment in the Haymarket Shopping Centre continues to have a positive 

full-year impact on net income in FY24/25 and capital asset value improving a further £760k.  

This emphasises the fact that, whilst our portfolio remains reasonably well-balanced across all 

categories, the Council’s investment in the Retail sector is not purely for income generation. The 

Council continues to hold and invest in our Retail portfolio for strategic purposes and to support the 

local economy by providing a range of accommodation for our city centre and neighbourhoods. 

  

 

 

 

  

22



 

15 

CCLA ASSET ALLOCATION – FY24/25 COMPARED TO THE CORPORATE ESTATE FY24/25 

 

CCLA     LCC CORPORATE ESTATE 

Industrial   43.36%  Industrial  27% 

Office   17.65%  Office  35% 

Retail Warehousing 17.42%   

Retail   2.00%  Retail  25% 

Other   13.94%  Other  13% 

Cash   5.53% 

Indirect   0.12% 

 

We have continued to support local businesses by maintaining a sizeable Retail portfolio consisting 

of city centre retail, neighbourhood shops, and other retail spaces at competitive market rents. 

Alongside this, we continue to offer a considerable portfolio of secondary Office space and managed 

workspaces to our existing city-wide portfolio that offers around 250 lettable units comprising 

predominantly small office and workshop/industrial units.  

 

Additionally, the Council’s strategy continues to include a growing number of prime Economic 

Regeneration workspaces in the city which provides for new business start-up units. 

 

Central government’s Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) Legislation came into force with 

effect from 1 April 2023. The aim of MEES regulation for commercial property is to help meet the UK 

government’s target to reduce emissions to net zero by 2050. Announcements by the outgoing 

government in FY23/24 suggested a ‘softening’ of the legislation, however, this was only applied to 

the residential market and commercial real estate targets did not change. Investment portfolio 

continue to feel the pressure of necessary capital investment without enhanced government funding 

to support the MEES sustainability targets.  

 

The new incoming government maintained stringent legislation which continues to impact the 

investment portfolio. A minimum EPC rating of E for all commercial real estate lettings, requires that 

the Council continue to review and invest, where economically viable, in the improved sustainability 

of the Corporate Estate portfolio and older Regeneration units to maintain capital asset values and 

the ability to continue to lease older properties. The EPC rating becomes more challenging to meet 

by 2027 when the minimum EPC rating increases to C and by 2030, B. The Council will continue to 

invest in their commercial real estate portfolio and continue with their commitment to ESG.  

23



 

16 

CHART 4 — GIA BY ASSET CATEGORY (SQ FT) 

 

Retail = 457,702 (no movement from 457,702 LY) 

Office = 474,285 (no movement from 474,285 LY) 

Industrial = 465,478 (down slightly from 478,362 LY) 

Other = 227,795 (up slightly from 222,585 LY) 

 

Chart 4, above, shows the lettable floor space available and, like the rest the report, is categorised 

using the traditional sectors of Office, Retail, Industrial and Other. In terms of floor space, 86% of the 

space on offer is Industrial, Retail and Office (static against last year, but slightly up in office and 

slightly down in retail exposure). 57% of floor space offered by our retail sector and industrial sector 

portfolios which is reasonably static against last year. Office space has remained static year on year 

whereas industrial has decreased by 12,885 sq ft with the demolition of Abbey Court. Available 

space has decreased slightly overall year on year by 7,674 sq ft.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Industrial
465,478 

29%

Office
474,285 

29% Other
227,795 

14%

Retail
457,702 

28%

Industrial Office Other Retail

24



 

17 

CHART 5 — GIA BY ASSET CATEGORY (SQ FT)  

 

 
 

Chart 5a INDUSTRIAL: (left, above) Illustrates the breakdown of the Industrial portfolio across the 

estate —which represents 29% of the lettable space. The Council’s estate is almost wholly ‘rack 

rented’ or units on long term leases. Long term leases, along with the ground leases, require little 

support and provide good security of tenure.                                                                                                                            

 

Chart 5b OFFICE: (middle, above) Illustrates the makeup of the floor area of our rented office space 

— which is 29% of our whole estate. With a focus on new business growth, a growing proportion of 

our office estate is attributable to managed workspace units (70%). Rack rent makes up 21% of the 

available office space whilst normally this would be growing in the office sector for onward business 

growth, the market demand has slowed for office space and particularly Grade B office space – this 

is reflected here. Ground rents are static between last year to this year at 9%.  

 

Chart 5c RETAIL: (right, above) Making up 28% of our overall Corporate Estate floor space, the chart 

shows the dispersed nature of our retail space across the city, with 32% of our shop units located 

within local communities. Our city centre retail estate — including the market — remains significant 

in the city, and accounts for almost two thirds of the space on offer, with 457,702 sq ft of retail units 

available across the city. The diverse spread of locations also spreads risk and places the Council in a 

strong position during financial or market uncertainty. 

 

 

25



 

18 

 

 

 

26



 

19 

 

  

27



 

20 

5. VALUATION 

 

The valuation methodology is in line with the RICS Code of Practice for the Commercial Property 

Sector and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 

with effect from 1 April 2024, where 20% of the Council’s real estate portfolio was re-valued and the 

remaining 80% were valued through applying the relevant market indexation.  

The Council’s commercial real estate portfolio has increased, from £147.2m in FY 2023/24 to 

£154.4m in FY 2024/25 an increase in value of approximately £7.2m. 

The Corporate Estate represents 12.3% of the EBS £1.255 billion valued assets in FY 2024/25. The 

Corporate Estate Portfolio comprises traditional sectors of Industrial, Office, Retail and Other. 

 

CHART 6 – VALUE OF THE CORPORATE ESTATE – FY2024/25 

 
 

Local Authority Asset Valuation are a complex changing picture with property being acquired, 

disposed, repurposed and leased to achieve the Council’s wider strategic objectives. As seen above 

in Chart 6, the overall capital asset valuation of the Council’s Corporate Estate portfolio in FY24/25 is 

up by at 4.88% or £7.2 million from FY23/24 and from £147.2 million to £154.4 million over the last 

year. The Retail Asset Type saw the highest increase of £4,035,906 (+10.24%), largely driven by rent 

reviews undertaken on the Neighbourhood Shops and income growth for Haymarket Shopping 

Centre. 

 

Turning our attention to wider UK market comparators, CBRE’s press release in January 2025 

detailed ‘Strong Results for UK Real Estate at End of 2024, as All Sectors See Capital Values Rise in 

December’. CBRE’s Market Insite quoted ‘Both income return, and capital value growth contributed 

positively to total return in 2024, with capital values for all commercial property rising by 1.8% during 

the year. Meanwhile, rental values for all commercial property rose by 2.9% in 2024’. This trend 

complemented the asset valuation growth seen in the Council’s wider portfolio as well as the 

Corporate Estate portfolio. 

 

28



 

21 

 

 

  

Statement by the Valuer for the Year Ending 31 March 2025 

In accordance with the instructions of the Chief Finance Officer, we have valued the 

Corporate Estate portfolio as at 31 March 2025. The valuation has been prepared in 

accordance with the RICS Red Book Global Standards effective from 31 January 2025 

published by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) and to conform with the 

disclosure requirements of that publication. We understand that the Valuation is used for 

Financial Statement purposes. 

The value of the Corporate Estate portfolio asset valuations carried out in the year ending 

31 March 2025 is £154,399,607 (One Hundred and Fifty-Four Million, Three Hundred and 

Ninety-Nine Thousand, Six Hundred and Seven). 

The Valuation is for the sole use of the Council and is used for Financial Reporting Purposes 

only. Details of the basis of our valuation and the individual properties are set out in the 

individual valuation reports dated 31 March 2025. 

 

Gbolahan Solaymon MRICS and RICS Registered Valuer 

Senior Estates Valuation Surveyor 

RICS No. 1119552 

 

29



 

22 

PORTFOLIO PERFORMANCE  

 

Occupancy:  

 

Industrial  Office  Retail Other 2024/25 
Average 

2023/24 
Average 

2022/23 
Average 

2021/22 
Average 

99% 92% 94% 95% 95% 95.5% 96% 95% 
 
Overall availability within the portfolio increased slightly to 95% from 95.5% last year.  
 
Retail void rates in Leicester city centre have increased over 2024/25 due to a combination of 
structural, economic, and behavioural factors. Namely, retail moves to online only operations, 
continued retirement post-Covid where otherwise high quality retailers would sell their business 
interests to others, a lack of interest in physical retail outlets in preference to online only presence 
has resulted in lease termination. Additionally, a glut in city centre retail property is also driving 
requests for improved incentivisation. Pockets of retail which requires upgrades on vacancy is taking 
property out of the market for longer periods of time before re-letting. Secondary office availability 
has increased as the market faces challenges from remote working trends and the need for 
properties to meet stricter sustainability standards.  
 
Conversely, industrial continues to be in demand as online services require warehousing. 
 
National market insights from the RICS UK Commercial Property Monitor highlights ongoing 
weakness in occupier demand for retail, with a net balance of -13% reported in Q1 2025. This 
sentiment reflects a broader trend of declining demand for secondary high street retail units 
(RICS, 2025). 
 
Footfall reductions have been a key contributor. MRI data shows Leicester’s high street traffic fell by 
around 4.6% year-on-year, while UK shopping centres recorded declines of 5.8% (MRI Software, 
2025; Cluttons, 2025). Reduced consumer activity (impacted by interest rates and national insurance 
and income taxation) has lowered turnover for occupiers, prompting some closures and discouraging 
new lettings.  
 
Cost pressures have further exacerbated vacancy. Rising energy prices, staff costs, and business 
rates have squeezed margins, disproportionately affecting independent and mid-market retailers in 
secondary units. RICS commentary also highlights tax and rating uncertainty as significant headwinds 
to market confidence (RICS, 2025). 
 
Finally, shifting consumer behaviour continues to divert spend toward retail parks and online 
channels. CBRE notes that retail parks remain comparatively resilient, benefitting from convenience-
led trips, destination shopping and hybrid working patterns (CBRE, 2025). This polarisation has left 
Leicester’s central high streets particularly vulnerable, driving availability rates upwards through 
2024/25. 
 
Whilst most availability is market driven, unit quality and marketing is also key to maintaining 
occupancy rates. Some availability has been impacted by climate change and particularly freak 
storms and heavy rain on end of useful lifecycle roofs and buildings has resulted in building fabric 
failure. Some buildings have closed where dis-investment or wholesale re-development is required.  

30



 

23 

Revenue Performance: 

Without significant change to the portfolio in the last year, the optimisation strategy, along with 
effective investment planning in previous years, ensured that the revenue position remained solid 
year-on-year with a slight upturn in revenue of £1,018,079 (+9.1%).  
 
This echoed the RICS UK Commercial Property monitor, in the last quarter of FY24/25, expressing 
that all-property average projections for rents and capital values marginally positive for the year 
ahead, although expectations remain weaker across secondary assets.  
 
However, occupier demand remains stagnant, with the retail sector showcasing a negative occupier 
demand (-12%) which was slightly offset by low positive demand in the industrial (+7%) and office 
sector (+3%) at Q4 2024. This was a significant change from Q2 and Q3 2024 RICS UK Commercial 
Property Monitor Forecasting, where occupier demand was at +4% and +5% respectively and there 
were indications of an upturn. 
 
It should be noted that nationally, prime property continues to outperform secondary units. With 

footfall crucial for retail, as well as energy costs continuing to rise, the location and relative energy 

efficiency of prime units are likely encouraging further positive momentum. 

For the Council’s Corporate Estate, FY24/25 gross income was up by £1,018,079 on FY23/24 with the 
Haymarket Shopping Centre being a key component in the increase achieved. 
 
The UK Consensus: Survey of Independent Forecasts for UK Commercial Property Investment 
returned an all-property index average rental value growth of 3.025% in FY24/25. Office returned an 
average rental value growth of 2.475%. Industrial returned an average rental value growth of 4.25%. 
Retail returned an average rental value growth of 1.975%. Income was up on overall by 1.825% from 
FY23/24. 
 
The Corporate Estate achieved an all-property rental value growth of 9.1%, outperforming the 
national average by 6.075% in FY24/25.  
 
The Retail sector showed the largest income growth this year at 19.33% predominantly due to the 
performance of the Haymarket Shopping Centre, optimisation of Retail rents, and bringing back into 
use previously available property. 
 
The Corporate Estate Industrial rental growth reduced slightly due to the demolition of Abbey Court 
Industrial Estate and the late delivery of Blackbird Road Industrial Estate. The Industrial sector is 
expected to achieve robust rental growth in FY25/26 when Blackbird Road Industrial Estate is 
expected to be fully let. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

31



 

24 

Gross Rental Income – Corporate Estate Income by Sector:  

 

The chart below shows the sector-by-sector gross rental income for the last decade. The Corporate 

Estate increased overall, from £11.27m to £12.29m an increase of £1.02m. 

 

CHART 7 – CORPORATE ESTATE RENTAL INCOME BY YEARS 

 

The optimisation of the Corporate Estate has resulted in general improved gross income across all 

sectors, with offices lagging as a result of the pandemic, incentivisation (rent free periods) and lower 

rents generally when compared to the wider Leicester market. A key focus in 2025 will be to focus 

on Office sector availability and either disinvest or re-purpose and improve Office rents in line with 

market values. The Office sector continues to be challenged by new ways of working and working 

from home regimes although we are optimistic for secondary office in Leicester due to the lack of 

new investment for primary office space.  

 

Key highlights include the Retail sector (having remained static in the previous period) increased by 

£769k (mainly driven by the Haymarket Shopping Centre, rent and service charge optimisation and 

improved letting of available units).  

 

Over the last 10 years, income has doubled from £6m to £12m, with the most notable increases 

coming from the last 5 years when the Council started optimising the Corporate Estate with an 

improvement in these years of £5.1m. Key investments such as the Haymarket Shopping Centre has 

driven over a million pounds worth of improved income consistently since it’s purchase in 2021. 

  

32



 

25 

 

CHART 8 (BELOW) SHOWS THE PERCENTAGE OF GROSS REVENUE INCOME GENERATED BY EACH OF 

THE SECTORS. 

 

 

The top five gross income generators represent £1.179m or 9.59% of the Corporate Estate.  

Net revenue contribution continues to be hindered by increases in utility costs, availability, and the 

costs of repairing and maintaining the estate.  

Maintenance and building quality/improvement plays a significant role in the short-, medium- and 

long-term quality of our estate and an improved commitment to maintenance and sustainability of 

the Corporate Estate remains a significant investment strategy. As we continue to focus on ESG and 

the government’s implementation of the Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards in the forthcoming 

year, a further commitment to meeting and wherever economically viable, exceeding the Minimum 

Energy Efficiency Standards has been made through the introduction of the Cleaner Greener 

programme. EPC ratings will continue the improvement trajectory to meet the legislative 

requirements and will continue in earnest along with additional capital investment in both 

understanding the general condition of our estate and in responding to our climate action plan and 

sustainability targets.  

 

Financial Year 2024/25 

Gross Revenue Income  
Running/Management 

Costs 
Net Revenue Contribution 

Year on Year Improvement 

£12,288,765 £6,185,434 £6,103,331 
 

7.5% 

  

33



 

26 

Market Rents 

According to the East Midlands Market Insite 2025 report issued by Innes England, the industrial 

sector continued to deliver strong results across Leicester, Derby and the Midlands, with good 

occupier demand, rising rents, generating the confidence for developer and investor support with 

new supply.  

 

This year’s report highlighted the resilience and adaptability of the Midlands’ commercial property 

market, showcasing pockets of notable growth and encouraging activity, despite broader economic 

challenges.  

In Derby, the industrial market has remained a standout performer, with total take-up exceeding 1.0 

million sq ft for the fourth consecutive year. The expansion of supply, bolstered by new 

developments like SmartParc SEGRO and Infinity Park, is testament to the sector’s strength, with 

prime rents climbing by over 44% in the past four years. Meanwhile, office supply challenges persist, 

with no Grade A space available.  

Nottingham city centre continued to attract national operators with take-up again led by those in 

the food, beverage and leisure sectors. Two existing operators opened second concepts in the city, 

with ARC Inspiration opening Manahatta and Professionals at Play building on its presence with 

15,500 sq ft taken for the Roxy Lanes concept.  

Leicester’s industrial market saw record investment activity, with transactions totalling £649 million - 

the highest level in 10 years. While the office market experienced a quieter year, second-hand space 

drove activity, and key regeneration projects like the Market redevelopment and Granby Street 

improvements underlined the city’s commitment to enhancing its appeal. 

In the retail sector, whilst macroeconomic conditions and rising costs continued to put pressure on 

retailers in 2024, there was positive activity across Nottingham, Derby and Leicester, with exciting 

new schemes coming forward and national operators opening. Reflecting the economic conditions, 

total retail closures rose from 10,500 in 2023 to 13,500 in 2024, which shows the challenges retailers 

are facing. Independent operators were hit the hardest, making up 80% of the total closures. Despite 

this, national vacancy rates have plateaued with high street and shopping centre voids stabilising at 

14% and 17.6% respectively, highlighting retail demand in the market for new outlets. The autumn 

budget hit the retail and hospitality industry with the ‘triple whammy’, with rises in National 

Insurance contributions, minimum wage increases and reduction of business rates relief from 75% to 

40%. This prompted 82 CEOs of some of the UK's largest retailers to write an open letter to the 

government, highlighting the significant impact the budget would have on the sector, with retailers 

now set to contribute £11bn in business rates alone. 

The government also passed legislation in December 2024 introducing ‘High Street Rental Auctions’, 

effectively allowing local authorities to offer long-term vacant units to occupiers on short-term 

bases. It is a welcome step in attempting to revitalise some struggling retail pitches, with Bassetlaw 

and Mansfield in Nottinghamshire being two of three early adopters. Time will tell how successful 

the new legislation will be, as it remains to be seen how this process will work in practice. We are 

seeing an increase in headline and net effective rents being driven by competition between retailers 

for prime bricks and mortar. Many high streets have seen retailers migrate from various secondary 

pitches onto the prime, exposing certain areas of city centres to higher vacancy rates. Following 

Wilko’s fall in 2023, several other household retailers fell into administration across 2024 including 

Carpetright, Ted Baker, The Body Shop and Homebase. The Body Shop was bought seven months 

after filing for administration, retaining 113 of its 198 UK stores and has finished the year in profit. 

34



 

27 

Tapi Carpets took on 54 Carpetright stores, and The Range snapped up 70 former Homebase stores. 

It is reassuring to see solutions have been found for struggling retailers in 2024, helping to reduce 

voids along the high street and out of town. 

The roadside sector remained vibrant with a number of operators competing for sites as well as new 

entrants to the market, such as Caffè Nero and Chaiiwala, the latest brands to shift their attention to 

drive-thru sites. With many local planning departments understaffed, delivery of sites has not 

matched the level of demand in the market. 

 
Leicester 
 
Retail Despite the troubled financial situation last year with Highcross entering receivership in 
March 2023, there were positives in FY 2024/25. Highcross Shopping Centre had a positive year, with 
new openings including Card Factory, Prezzybox, Castore, Sunglass Hut, and a Leicester City fan 
store. Plans have been submitted to refurbish the entrances on East Gate, High Street, Church Gate, 
and Bond Street, aiming to improve visibility and emphasise the city’s cultural heritage. Work is set 
to start in early 2025.  
 
Not so positive was M&S closing its doors in Gallowtree Gate in August, meaning it no longer has a 
presence in the city centre. Leicester City Council and the Mayor are discussing the unit’s future.  
 
Local brands have relocated to larger, more prominent city centre units alongside new retailers. 
Currant Affairs moved to St Martin’s Square with Sangeeth and Patina, while Heritage Café and 
Wonderlust opened on Carts Lane and Loseby Lane. Indian fusion restaurant Peara is fitting out a 
unit on Market Street, and Bread and Honey expanded into adjacent premises on King Street.  
 
Following its city centre closure, M&S expanded its Fosse Park store by 11,500 sq ft to 100,000 sq ft, 
occupying the adjacent unit as part of its flagship strategy. Elsewhere on the park, plans will split a 
unit near Skechers into two 2,500 sq ft spaces, offering more affordable rents. Moss Bros, rebranded 
to Moss, is relocating to the former Regatta premises near Boots.  
 
The £7.5m marketplace revamp stalled after the old market’s demolition to reassess the site’s 
potential. The opened space provides opportunities for festivals and events and proposed plans 
include a dismantlable structure for events near the food hall, with 48 stalls. Revised plans entered 
consultation in October, with a Council decision expected early in 2025.  
 
Granby Street saw £700,000 in upgrades through the High Street Heritage Action Zones programme, 
widening footpaths and cycleways, creating outdoor seating, and restoring the Grade II listed Grand 
Hotel’s shopfronts to their original design. New signage complements the building as part of wider 
efforts to improve Granby Street’s shopping environment and attract shoppers to the city centre. 
 
Office take-up in the Leicester office market eased in 2024, with total activity of 264,600 sq ft, some 
26% below the 10-year average. Lettings during the year were focused on good quality Grade B 
space, accounting for 96% of activity, perhaps due to the absence of significant Grade A availability, 
with a relatively even split between in-town and out-of-town locations. There were several disposals 
above 15,000 sq ft during the year, with the most significant being the 19,300 sq ft letting to retailer 
Next at 20 Radar Road and the letting on Western Boulevard of 18,995 sq ft to HSBC. The largest 
Grade A letting in the city centre was to legal services group Knights, taking 8,800 sq ft at Colton 
Square, the present mainstay of Grade A space. Availability rose by 17% to 940,000 sq ft, with good 
Grade B space accounting for 84% of stock. The largest Grade A building currently on the market is 
the 55,000 sq ft space at Carlton Park.  

35



 

28 

Prime and secondary rents have remained steady at £20.00 per sq ft and £14.00 per sq ft 
respectively, primarily due to the lack of brand-new speculative accommodation driving rents on.  
 
 
 

 
 
 
Industrial take-up in the Leicester industrial market eased back to just under 2.2 million sq ft in 
2024, following four years of above trend levels of activity. The main slowdown was for larger 
buildings above 30,000 sq ft where take-up decreased to 1.3 million sq ft from 1.9 million in 2023, 
though primarily due to the lack of mid-box supply rather than demand. Included in this is big box 
activity that slowed to 793,100 sq ft across four deals, with the largest transaction being the 
agreement to lease at MPS9, Magna Park, Lutterworth, where CEF (City Electrical Factors) took 
383,150 sq ft. Availability increased, rising to 5.3 million sq ft, with occupiers shedding a number of 

36



 

29 

larger older buildings. Units of 100,000 sq ft and above account for 75% (6 million sq ft) of the 
overall supply, with the largest of these being the 761,360 sq ft speculatively built MPN 761 at 
Magna Park. Prime rents have now reached £10.00 per sq ft, representing growth of 11.1% over the 
past 12 months and 25% since 2021, while secondary rents continue to reflect the market's strength, 
rising to £7.50 per sq ft. 
 

 
 

Investment activity in Leicestershire rose to its highest level in 10 years, with a total of £649m in 

transactions completed in 2024. The industrial sector continued to dominate activity, accounting for 

83% of the year’s transactions. The big deal of the year was private equity group Lone Star’s 

acquisition of East Midlands-based property business Charles Street Buildings for approximately 

£570m, known as Project Tiger. Of this, around £390m related to 15 multi-let industrial estates 

around Leicestershire, totalling about 4.5 million sq ft of industrial space. The deal is understood to 

37



 

30 

have been underwritten on a stabilised yield of just over 8%. Another notable deal was Aviva’s 

purchase of Leicester Distribution Park for £102.5m, reflecting a net initial yield of 5.0%. The fully let 

eight-unit prime reversionary M1 logistics park was developed in three phases between 2017 and 

2022 and boasts strong ESG credentials. The most significant deal outside of the industrial sector 

was the £31.5m purchase of the Morrisons store at Gorse Covert Shopping Centre in Loughborough 

by GR Retail, as part of a two-property portfolio. The purchase price reflected a net initial yield of 

7.25%. Overall, despite a challenging first half of the year, prime yields began to stabilise around the 

midpoint and investment volumes have slowly started to recover from this point. Office and retail 

prime yields were stable at 7.50% and 6.50% respectively, while industrial yields edged in by 25 basis 

points to 5.00%. 

  

38



 

31 

Key Highlights: 

Offices:  

Prime headline rents: £20.00 per sq ft 

Secondary rents £14.00 per sq ft 

Industrial: 

Prime headline rents: £10.00 per sq ft 

Secondary rents £7.50 per sq ft 

Investment: 

 

Transactions Completed £649.2m 

The Council’s Corporate Estate continues its optimisation progress in earnest with improved 

resources across the team, completing a full ‘root and branch’ review of all rents and service 

charges. Industrial edged up to £5.71 per sq ft with the acquisition of the Heathers Industrial Estate 

in FY23/24. The review of secondary office and industrial at our business centre workspaces started 

in 2024/25 and is anticipated to complete in 2025/26. Retail improved greatly to £10.38 per sq ft 

from £7.56 per sq ft due to improved occupancy in this sector. Secondary office rents lag the market 

significantly with optimisation of this sector to come in the next 12-18 months as the secondary 

office market shows signs of recovery.  

 

39



 

32 

Yield: 

According to Savills (Market in Minutes: UK Commercial February 2025) the national market showed 
that their commercial property perspective remains confident that improvement is coming, but that 
they might have to wait until Q2 of 2025/26 to see it. The buds of improvement are out but are not 
quite ready to bear fruit. Yield expectation remained static in the last two quarters of 24/25 with 
yield remaining static across all sectors. The only exception was in major regional UK cities which 
improved slightly, proving that offices remain in favour with investors.  

The UK average prime gross yield was 5.93%, back at levels not seen since July 2023.  

At the end of FY24/25 spring anticipated a recovery, and it felt like much of the latent investor and 
lender sentiment will be holding off a little longer to see how things turn out, but capital is becoming 
more available for deployment when the winter fog lifts. The issue, as it has been for some months, 
is lack of stock, with multiple bidders being seen when good stock comes to market. 

NIC increase comes into effect in April 2025, the business community seems split on how increased 
costs will impact profitability and growth prospects next year. It’s true that there will be severe 
headaches for some sectors, retail and hospitality for instance, but business leaders appear equally 
focussed on wider geopolitical headwinds and the impact these will have on supply chains, global 
economic security and inflation. 

Despite these concerns, British businesses exhibited renewed optimism for the first time in seven 
months in February 2025, according to the Lloyds Bank Business Barometer, which rose to 49% from 
37% in January - the largest increase since late 2020. The improved confidence reflects companies’ 
ability to manage higher costs and uncertainty, following almost a decade of post-Brexit turbulence, 
and even suggests that hiring plans have increased despite budgetary fears. Conversely, two-thirds 
of businesses anticipate raising prices in the coming year to mitigate the budget’s impact on 
profitability, which is unlikely to fill those reliant on consumer and construction spending with cheer. 

President Trump’s narrative continues to keep economic forecasters on their toes. We’ve probably 
never seen so many significant moving parts that could accelerate or decelerate the recovery or 
vanish from speculation to irrelevance in a breath of hot air. With this level of uncertainty, it is 
understandable that investment activity remains sticky. Trade tariffs could impact the UK which 
could result in an even stickier 2025. 

Yields continued to present a very mixed story across the board. Outward pressure can be seen in 
nine out of 14 sectors with Retail down (6.5%), Offices (6.75%) and Industrial (5%). 

 

 

The Corporate Estate returned an average gross yield of 7.96%  

for the year ended March 2025, which is considered ‘very good’  

in commercial real estate market terms, and significantly above  

the average UK prime rates of the CCLA property funds. 

 

This compares with the CCLA Local Authority Property Fund (used as a benchmark) which 

returned a gross yield of 4.92% 

40



 

33 

The Chart below, illustrates the average gross yield by sector for the three main sectors in the last 

financial year, with the Retail sector returning the highest average yield at 10.92%, widening the gap 

with the Industrial sector at 6.10%. The main driver for improvement was City Centre retail 

predominantly driven by the Haymarket Shopping Centre and improvement in letting shops that had 

previously been void, plus general optimisation in rents. 

 

CHART 9 – AVERAGE GROSS YIELD 

 

 
 

Net yield is down predominately due to the upwards pressure in increased utility costs driven largely 

from increases in electricity and gas due to the Russo/Ukraine War. Gas and electric prices are 

expected to see slight decreases in early 2026 in the UK, though with significant uncertainty and the 

possibility of future issues later in the year. While the Price Cap fell in July 2025 and is forecast to dip 

again around January 2026, analysts like Cornwall Insight predict further fluctuations. Factors such as 

global events, government policies, and the expansion of renewable energy will influence long-term 

price stability. Continued increases in the cost of construction and the scarcity of certain supplies, 

continue to impact repair and maintenance costs.  

 

The strategic decision to reduce the Council’s operational office estate has also had an impact on the 

Corporate Estate as some sites are in the process of being leased. This is anticipated to show 

improvement next year as the market warms on the secondary office market.  

 

It is important to understand that, in calculating yields, the capital valuation of a portfolio is a 

significant factor. In line with what has been happening in the rest of the UK, local land values have 

generally appreciated although, as previously stated, in the case of the Corporate Estate portfolio, 

such appreciation generally relates to development value rather than existing use of the land. 

Instances where land and property valuations have decreased minimally, such as the neighbourhood 

shops, means that yield is affected positively. When we look at the yield performance of some of the 

sub-sectors, we can see a clearer picture in terms of performance, with a number of sub-sectors 

41



 

34 

generating excellent gross yields above 8% with City Centre retail providing outstanding yield 

improvements from 11% to 16.4%. Ground leases in the office sector taking the second spot at 9.5% 

versus the improvement in rack rent office yields which have shown a slight improvement over last 

year. City centre retail gross yields remain excellent at 16.4% and up on last year at 5.4% 

predominantly due to retail starting to show signs of returning to its pre-covid value combined with 

a slight improvement on take-up in last quarter of FY2024/25.  

 

 

Yield in Detail: 

 

Gross yield is generally used to compare the financial performance of property investments and as 

noted above, they are influenced by the quality of the assets (e.g. location, sector, condition, supply 

and demand) and the associated investment risk. With a balanced portfolio, the Corporate Estate 

therefore incorporates some ‘gold thread income returns’ for very low risk investments over longer 

term investment periods.  

 

Ground leases are generally held in the portfolio as steady, long-term leases that have a strategic 

role in minimising the revenue risk of the Corporate Estate as a whole. Whilst ground leases in the 

three main sectors are generally lower than average performers, the impact of planned rent 

increases in recent years, particularly in the Office sector, means that yield performance has reduced 

to levels that are aligned to the rest of the portfolio.  

 

CHART 10 – GROSS YIELD GROUND LEASES 

 

 
 

Ground lease Industrial = 3.78% 

Ground lease Office = 9.50% 

Ground lease Retail = 4.45% 

It should be noted that a lower yield is not necessarily due to poor performance (and is not always 

of concern), as low yields are generally related to the low risk involved with the investment. 

Examples in the Corporate Estate include our ground leases that provide a long-term income; as 

well as the neighbourhood shops that we hold for purposes that are secondary to income 

generation. 

42



 

35 

 

The average net yield of 3.95% achieved in FY24/25 by the Corporate Estate is almost double at 

1.64% above the CCLA Local Authorities Property Fund (Interim Report September 2024) at a 2.31% 

net yield.  

 

 CHART 11 — YIELD CONTRIBUTION BY SECTOR SUB-TYPE 

 

 
 

Chart 11 (above) provides a breakdown of yields across a range of sub-sectors within the Retail, 

Industrial and Office sectors. The City Centre Retail sector has consistently provided an excellent 

(over 8%) gross yield for the last three years, and continues to do so, with a return to FY22/23 levels 

this year demonstrating and excellent average gross market yield. The Haymarket Shopping Centre 

showed an improvement in performance from last year at its full-year results. This combined with 

general improvements in retail rents, balanced across an improved capital value resulted in a return 

to form. 

 

Despite the continued general economic turbulence with interest rates falling through the Bank of 

England base rate downward adjustment, market confidence didn’t return, due to anticipated 

further turbulence in the last quarter of FY24/25 where the market remained subdued as a result of 

Trump’s tariffs and future taxation. In FY24/25, whilst City Centre Retail recovered to its pre-covid 

level, Office Ground Leases provided continued to provide excellent returns at 9.50%. 

Neighbourhood Shops have achieved a very good gross yield of 7.13% this year. Further 

improvements were made in Ground Lease Industrial due to a combination of capital asset 

valuations and long lease/rent reviews in-year. 

  

43



 

36 

 

Portfolio Sector Yield Indicator Performance Review 

Industrial: 
- Ground Lease 

Industrial 
 
 
 
- Rack Rent Industrial 

 
3.78% 
 
 
 
 
7.69% 

 
Lowest Yield/ 
Low Risk/ 
Stable 
 
 
Very Good 
Yield 

 
Slight increase from 2023/24. Our industrial ground leases are 
generally long-length leases that are low risk in terms in terms of 
demand and rent volatility and offer us stability and longer-term 
sustainability – hence the lower-than-average yield. 
 
A well-performing sector with long-term tenants that continue to 
have confidence in the Council as their landlord. up from 2023/24 
levels, with opportunity to increase further as rents continue to be 
aligned to market rates. 

Office: 
- Rack Rent Office 
 
 
 
- Ground Lease Office 

 
4.33% 
 
 
 
9.50% 

 
Good Yield/ 
Some Risk 
 
 
Excellent  
High Yield/ 
Low Risk   

 
Down slightly from 2023/24 levels due to new ways of working. There 
continues to be some risk in this sector in the future as working 
practices and hybrid working continues to be defined. 
 
These low-risk ground leases provide a stable and sustainable revenue 
income. Asset valuation improvements contributed to a very healthy 
yield. 

Retail: 
- City Centre Retail 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
- Ground Lease Retail 

 
 
 

- Neighbourhood 
Retail 

 

 

 
16.40% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.45% 
 
 
 
7.13% 

 
Excellent 
High Yield/ 
Turbulent  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Good Yield/ 
Low Risk/ 
Stable 
 
Very Good 
Yield/Held for 
Community 
Benefit 

 
City Centre retail space that brings in an excellent yield. Yield 
performance is high due to the historic nature of the holdings and 
subsequent high values, although an increased capital valuation in 
2024/25 – due to rising land values and growth in sector holdings 
combined with improvement through rent reviews has resulted in 
return to yields last seen in 2022/23. 
 
A full year of solid income and improved capital asset value from the 
Haymarket Shopping Centre continues to prove a good investment.  
 
No change.  A good solid yield. Longer-length leases with a lower risk 
that the City Centre retail space. A stable performer with low risk 
attached. 
 
A slight decrease in yield compared to 2023/24 as availability has 
remained static predominantly due to capital requirements and lower 
rents. Based in community settings on our local authority housing 
estates and generally tied to our housing portfolio by way of flats 
above the shops, this sector is held to provide communities with local, 
convenient, Neighbourhood shopping facilities, which are now 
undergoing improvements to shop fronts and interiors to bring 
locality improvements and availability improvements. 
 

 
  

44



 

37 

  
 

The Haymarket Shopping Centre 

 

In the fourth year of ownership, our short-term goals of continuing to stabilise the performance of 

the asset, build a single, strong management team and improving the asset’s performance in terms 

of availability remain our key focus.  

   
     

 FY21/22 FY22/23 FY23/24 FY24/25 

Capital 
Improvement 

Part-year   
(Nov 21 - April 22) Full year Full year Full year 

Capital investment £1m  £0k £300k £800k 

Gross Income 
Part-year so not 

comparable 
 

£3,114,067 £3,251,071 £4,365,635 

Costs £2,584,067 £2,570,913 £3,050,184 

Net Operating 
Profit £530,000 £680,158 £1,315,451* 

Asset Valuation £9,500,000 £13,591,000 £14,758,102 £15,517,920 

Capital 
appreciation from 
initial investment N/A 43% 55% 63% 

*includes one-off adjustment 

The asset is a stand-out investment for the Council achieving a capital appreciation from initial 

investment of 63% from acquisition to present date.  

Gross Income has increased by £1,114,564 from 23/24. 

Costs are up due to inflation, government impact on staff salaries (NI increases). All service charges 

are recharged. 

45



 

38 

Net Operating Profit has increased by £635,293 from 23/24. 

Gross yield is outstanding at over 20%, compared to all retail in the City Centre at 16.4%. 

Additionally, we have also been proactive in securing long-term sustainable income streams with 

quality occupiers, most notably agreeing a second unit expansion for Greggs in FY24/25. Improved 

occupancy rates provided the anticipated potential to improve income further as secondary retail 

offers good value for money in the market. Structural, society-wide changes in how people use retail 

space still pose challenges, however, the market change towards discount and general merchandise 

retailers has been positive for the Haymarket.  

Nationally, due to this shift away from quality brands in secondary retail, it is clear that Shopping 

Centres across the country are still challenged and are anticipated to underperform the All-Property 

five-year average index of 2.7% with Shopping Centres expected to achieve the weakest rental 

growth of around 1.4% next year.  

 

The Council is reviewing the Haymarket Shopping Centre as part of its City Centre strategy, balancing 

the market against the improved results of 24/25.  

 

  

46



 

39 

6. CLIMATE EMERGENCY 

 

The Council’s Climate Ready Leicester Plan 2023 to 2028 continues to focus on decarbonisation of 

our buildings, which contribute to over 60% of our carbon emissions. This work is being delivered 

through the three key strategies of: energy demand reduction, efficiency improvements and heat 

decarbonisation.  

Our Clean and Green programme is now being procured for LED lighting and Solar PV, which will 

deliver cost savings and energy savings. We are also exploring new technologies and partnerships to 

enhance our buildings and ultimately reduce our energy consumption. We are also continuously 

seeking out further funding for decarbonisation work through regional and national funding 

programmes. Improvements in environmental cleaning products and recycling of waste and 

improved energy procurement all contribute to our commitment to the environment.   

We continue to work on the three key actions in our Climate Ready Leicester Plan that are currently 

being delivered through the Corporate Estate: 

• Completion of Blackbird Road Industrial Park  
This new build industrial park scheme has now been completed and provides business units with an 

exceptional Energy Performance Certificate rating of A. It has PV array roof panels; sustainable 

drainage, insulated floors and cladding, EV charging for vehicles; skylights for natural lighting 

combined with LED lighting with PIR movement detectors and timers throughout and provides a 

modern low carbon energy efficient premises for our tenants. This is a practical demonstration 

showing the benefits of an energy efficient low carbon building to support our local businesses in 

saving money on their energy costs. We have launched our green lease scheme in the Park where 

both tenant and landlord work to ensure that the building is managed efficiently to maximise 

environmental benefit.  

• Compliance with the MEES legislation - Commercial Buildings (Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standards) 
The Council continues its commitment to meeting the Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards: 

▪ Currently an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rating of 'E' or above 
▪ Increasing to EPC rating ‘C’ or above by April 2027 and ‘B’ or above by April 2030.  

 

• Energy saving in void buildings and spaces 
▪ Review and improve the way we manage energy to minimise wastage in void buildings, 

end of lifecycle buildings and buildings awaiting redevelopment. 
 
The Council will continue in its commitment to its ESG responsibilities (Environmental, Social and 
corporate Governance) of its buildings, including the continued capital investment in meeting the 
Mandatory MEES legislation. As Energy Performance targets increase from FY2027/28 and then from 
FY2030/31 the Council will continue to invest further in its commercial real estate portfolio for the 
future benefit of its citizens, its tenants and its economy in providing good quality energy efficient 
commercial real estate. Other key future focuses include Smart Building Technologies, retrofitting 
and repurposing of existing buildings including incorporating energy-efficient technologies such as 
LED lighting, high-performance windows, and smart building controls to minimise energy demand. 
We continue to monitor technological advancements in providing energy-efficient and 
environmentally responsible buildings by investing and enhancing the long-term value of properties.  
 
Anna Dodd - Energy and Sustainability Manager  

Joanne Allen - Head of Sustainability  

47



 

40 

Statement of the Assistant City Mayor for Environment and Transport 

 

I am delighted that this year has seen the completion of the new Blackbird Road Industrial Park, 

formerly the Ian Marlowe Centre. It offers such a great prospect for the Council and the City. Firstly, 

it provides energy efficient premises with solar panels, electric vehicle charge points and an Energy 

Performance Certificate Rating A for commercial tenants. It can really benefit businesses profitability 

by reducing costs and providing a great working environment. Secondly it is another flagship for the 

City to demonstrate that a low carbon future is with us now and can be practically delivered through 

new business units.  

 

The green leases that have been created as part of this scheme are a chance for both landlord and 

tenant to work together to maintain the environmental efficiency of the building and the low carbon 

technologies provided. They provide an excellent opportunity to work in partnership with tenants as 

we all embrace new technologies to reach our Net Zero aspirations. 

 

Councillor Geoff Whittle  

Assistant City Mayor for Environment and Transport 

 

  

48



 

41 

7. FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

 

Corporate Estate Out-turn for the Year Ending 31 March 2024: 
 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

 
Number of units – 1,218 
 
Valuation as at 31/03/25 - £154.4m 
 

The Corporate Estate net return to the Council for the financial year ending 31 March 2025 was  

£6.103 million. Income generated from these assets is included in the Council’s revenue budget.   

It was previously highlighted that guidance from MHCLG (Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 

Government) and CIPFA (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) warns against 

investment activity which is disproportionately large in relation to an authority’s finances.  

 

With land and property investment income from the Corporate Estate accounting for 1.51% of the 

Council’s net revenue budget in 2024/2025, it continues to represent a manageable risk in relation 

to the overall revenue budget. 

 

 

In accordance with the Council’s Capital Strategy approved in February 2025 and to be updated in 

February 2026, the Council will not make commercial investments primarily to generate income. 

Each investment will benefit the Council’s service objectives. 

Acquisition of commercial or industrial property can be considered where there are either economic 

development or service reasons why the city would benefit from the Council’s ownership.  An 

example of economic development reasons might be to facilitate a significant business relocation to 

the city or surrounding area. 

Construction or development of commercial or industrial property can be considered for 

regeneration purposes within Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland area where the asset 

constructed or developed would generate a continuing income stream and have a readily realisable 

capital value. 

Low Carbon Energy Investments which help to reduce climate change can be considered.  Any such 

investment will still be expected to make a positive return, though in making the investment the 

Council will consider the environmental and social benefits as well as the financial return. 

Whilst investment in existing Corporate Estate properties can be considered, government rules no 

longer allow investment in new Corporate Estate properties primarily to produce income even when 

this is funded from the sale of existing properties; it has to be part of the wider service objectives for 

the City, for example economic growth and regeneration. 
 

Stuart McAvoy  

Head of Finance  

49



 

42 

8. MANAGING RISK 

 

In managing its portfolio of commercial land and property, Leicester City Council has the following 

risk management arrangements in place: 

 • An Investment Strategy considered by Council, that limits the exposure of the Council’s in terms of 

property investment.  

• A varied and balanced land and property portfolio that spreads risk across a number of sectors and 

investment types. 

• A strategy that prioritises security over yield and provides a commitment to support the local 

economy by providing accommodation for local businesses.  

• Contributing 1.51% of the Council’s 2024/25 net revenue budget, income from the Council’s 

portfolio of land and property represents a manageable risk in relation to the overall budget. 

• Robust governance and transparency around proposed commercial acquisitions and disposals and 

the performance of the Corporate Estate, ensuring that appropriate due diligence is undertaken in 

making estate management and investment recommendations.  

• A diverse directly employed team with a range of commercial and estate management expertise 

ensuring the authority has the skills and capacity to make investment recommendations with due 

regard to risk, and to manage the investments over the long-term. 

• In order to maintain capital asset valuation, capital investment will continually be required in order 

to shoulder the improvements to the estate that are required to maintain the long-term investment 

and quality of the estate, and, meet ESG and MEES targets over the short- to medium term.  

The Council’s Corporate Estate portfolio has remained stable in recent years in terms of its asset 

numbers, its make-up in terms of sector classification, its overall capital value, and its income.  

With recent uncertainty in the market, our strategy to optimise the performance of our existing 

estate and to take our time in considering our investment and growth options has proved to be a 

sensible one. Interest rates reductions in FY24/25 was anticipated to stimulate capital investment, 

however, the markets have remained cautious. The Corporate Estate has had a very positive 9.1% 

increase in rental income in FY24/25 representing continued optimisation of the investment estate 

and a further positive impact on a very solid portfolio performance despite an at best, sluggish year 

economically.   

50



 

43 

9. FUTURE OUTLOOK AND STRATEGY FOR 2024/2025  

 

The first quarter of 2025 has been steady but cautious across the UK commercial property market. 

The latest RICS survey shows occupier demand is still fairly weak, with retail recording a net balance 

of –13% and offices struggling even more. Most surveyors say investors are being selective, 

favouring safer assets while concerns around global uncertainty, energy and business rates continue 

to weigh on sentiment (RICS, 2025). 

Leicester reflects this national picture but also shows some resilience. Investment activity has been 

stronger than in some nearby cities, with industrial property and major retail hubs like Fosse Park 

still attracting demand. In contrast, city-centre high streets are facing challenges, with higher 

vacancy and softer occupier demand (Innes England, 2025). 

Retail performance is increasingly polarised. Footfall data shows Leicester’s high streets down by 

around 4.6% year-on-year, close to the national trend where shopping centres slipped by about 5.8% 

(MRI Software, 2025; Cluttons, 2025). Retail parks, however, are proving more resilient, supported 

by click-and-collect and convenience-driven trips (CBRE, 2025). 

Looking ahead 12–24 months, Leicester is likely to remain a “two-speed” market. Prime and well-

located assets — particularly retail parks and logistics — should see stable or gently rising rents with 

continued investor interest. Secondary retail, by contrast, will likely struggle with rising voids, flat 

rents and greater occupier turnover. RICS also points to growing interest in repurposing weaker 

stock into alternative uses, which may become increasingly relevant in Leicester (RICS, 2025). 

 

 

  

51



 

44 

 

 

 

52



 

45 

 

 

 

 

53



 

46 

 

 

 

 

54



 

47 

Other important metrics include: 

• Annual CPI inflation is forecast to rise from 2.5 per cent in 2024 to 3.2 per cent in 2025, 0.6 
percentage points higher than forecast in October. Wholesale gas prices are expected to 
peak at around 130 pence a therm in 2025, which is around 30 per cent higher than forecast 
in October. Oil prices are forecast to average 74 dollars a barrel in 2025, 4 per cent higher 
than in October. The resulting increases in the Ofgem price cap, coupled with higher food 
prices and the increase in regulated water bills, are expected to push monthly inflation up to 
a peak of 3.8 per cent in July 2025. From 2026 onwards, CPI inflation falls rapidly back to 
around the 2.0 per cent target as energy prices drop, food price inflation falls, and wage 
growth eases back from currently elevated rates. 
 

• The economic and fiscal outlook has become more challenging since the Autumn Budget. 
Domestic output stagnated in the second half of 2024 and business and consumer 
confidence have trended lower recently. European energy prices have risen again, and 
government bond yields are up by around ½ a percentage point. The outlook has also 
become more uncertain with two geopolitical risks highlighted in our 2022 Fiscal risks and 
sustainability report beginning to crystallise: upward pressure on defence spending and a 
tightening of global trade restrictions. And recent UK population, labour force, and output 
data do not provide a clear signal about domestic economic prospects. 
 

• Against this more challenging and uncertain backdrop, we now expect real GDP growth of 
1.0 per cent this year, half the rate in our October forecast, before it recovers to average 
around 1¾ per cent over the rest of the decade. While the Government’s planning reforms 
deliver a modest boost to the level of potential output of 0.2 per cent in 2029, its cumulative 
growth between 2023 and 2029 is still ½ a percentage point lower than we projected in 
October, and the level of productivity is over 1 per cent lower. Higher energy and food prices 
and more persistently high wage growth cause inflation to rebound to a quarterly peak of 
3.7 per cent in mid-2025, before returning to target over the rest of the forecast. 
 

• The underlying fiscal outlook has also deteriorated since October. Higher debt interest 
payments and weaker-than-expected receipts take the current balance from a surplus of 
£9.9 billion to a deficit of £4.1 billion in 2029-30, before accounting for new policies. 
Government policies, notably the direct savings from welfare reforms and the reduction in 
day-to-day departmental spending, and the indirect boost to receipts from planning 
reforms, raise £14.0 billion in 2029-30, offsetting the underlying deterioration. This means 
that the fiscal rules for a current balance and for net financial liabilities to be falling in 2029-
30 are both met by similar small margins to October of £9.9 billion and £15.1 billion 
respectively. But borrowing is projected to be £3.5 billion higher and debt 0.6 per cent of 
GDP higher at the end of the decade than in our October forecast. 
 

• Significant uncertainty surrounds domestic and global economic developments. If the 
projected recovery in UK productivity growth fails to materialise, and it continues to track its 
recent trend, then output would be 3.2 per cent lower and the current budget would be 1.4 
per cent of GDP in deficit by the end of the decade. A 0.6 percentage point increase in Bank 
Rate and gilt yield expectations across the forecast would eliminate current balance 
headroom. And if global trade disputes escalate to include 20 percentage point rises in 
tariffs between the USA and the rest of the world, this could reduce UK GDP by a peak of 1 
per cent and reduce the current surplus in the target year to almost zero. 
 
 
 

55



 

48 

• Economic outlook 

Since the October forecast, developments in outturn data and indicators of business, 
consumer and market sentiment have on balance, been negative for the economic 
outlook. The ONS has revised up the historical size of the UK workforce by 1.5 per cent (½ a 
million) in 2024. It also revised up the level of real GDP by 0.8 per cent in mid-2024. But real 
GDP growth largely stagnated over the second half of 2024 rather than continuing to grow, 
as we expected in the October forecast, meaning the level of output was broadly in line with 
our previous expectations by the end of 2024. The net effect of these developments was 
that the measured level of productivity (output per hour worked) at the end of 2024 was 1.3 
per cent lower than in the October forecast. In recent months, indicators of both business 
and consumer confidence have also trended lower. And European gas prices have risen 
while government bond yields have increased across many advanced economies. 

• In our central forecast, real GDP is now projected to grow by 1.0 per cent in 2025, half the 
2.0 per cent assumed in October. Around one-third of the lower growth this year reflects 
what appears to be structural weakness. This is concentrated in productivity, and its trend 
level is 1.3 per cent lower at the forecast horizon than expected in October. The remaining 
two-thirds is due to what appear to be cyclical, temporary, factors including higher interest 
rate expectations, increases in gas prices, and elevated uncertainty. GDP growth is expected 
to accelerate to 1.9 per cent in 2026 as monetary policy eases, gas prices fall back, and slack 
in the economy is taken up. Growth then averages 1¾ per cent over the rest of the decade. 
Government policies temporarily boost demand by 0.1 per cent in the middle of the forecast 
and permanently raise supply by 0.2 per cent at the forecast horizon. Overall, the permanent 
hit to productivity is partly offset by stronger workforce growth, leaving cumulative growth 
in potential output between 2023 and 2029 ½ a percentage point lower than forecast in 
October. There remains considerable uncertainty about how to interpret recent 
developments in UK labour force, GDP, and productivity data, and in US and global trade 
policy. We therefore explore the economic and fiscal implications of alternative scenarios for 
both domestic productivity growth and global tariff policies. 
 

• Interest rate expectations have risen since our October forecast. Bank Rate is expected to 
fall from its current level of 4.5 per cent to 3.8 per cent from mid-2026 onwards. 
Expectations are, on average, around a ¼ percentage point higher than in the October 
forecast. UK 10-year gilt yields have also risen by around ½ a percentage point since early 
October with similar moves in many other advanced economies. Interest rate expectations 
have remained highly volatile over this period, with 10-year gilt yields varying by a full 
percentage point between 3.9 and 4.9 per cent. 

The performance of our portfolio, despite the economic and market turbulence, shows that the 

outlook for our Corporate Estate remains solid, although the anticipated growth in hybrid working 

undoubtedly affected the demand for office space and we will need to maintain high quality space 

that meets the MEES legislative changes to ensure that occupancy levels and yields remain high. In 

addition, we should consider the opportunities to continue to develop our space to attract and meet 

the growing demand for flexible, local, shared office space solutions — presenting an opportunity to 

enhance and strengthen our local Managed Workspace offer.  

According to Steven Lang, Director of Office and Life Sciences at Savills UK (Market in Minutes: UK 

Commercial — March 2025) “Reviewing the relative performance – and the resulting gap – of the 

office sector prime yields compared to the rest of the commercial sub-sectors is interesting for 

investors. We last looked at this seven months ago and flagged that an improving occupational 

56



 

49 

market for offices was not being reflected in the yield spread. Since the end of last year, beginning as 

a flicker, there are signs that the gap of office and other sectors is reducing at the same time average 

prime yields for all non-offices are lowering. This reflects the sentiment regarding improving 

liquidity, as discussed above. Considering the current gap to 2023 yield levels, supported by 

occupational positivity in some markets, it is expected that Provincial Offices will trend downward 

this year.” 

The strength of our existing Industrial portfolio, along with our ability to maintain almost 100% 

occupancy, tells us that our investment activity should continue to be focussed on this sector. Supply 

of available industrial space is shrinking, particularly in car servicing and whilst demand is high, and 

optimising and investing in our stock will support a growth in rental and capital values in the coming 

years, in a sector that currently presents low risk. Whilst supporting our city centre and 

neighbourhood shopkeepers in a changing market is key in terms of offering more flexible lease 

structures, we can continue to maintain strong asset values and improve the vibrancy of our city 

centre and neighbourhood shopping spaces by investing and increasing the service life and the 

energy efficiency of our stock. This includes both our indoor and outdoor space use, potentially 

transforming and/or repositioning some of our assets to mixed use in order to optimise benefits and 

to maintain an attractive retail proposition in the future.  

With the Haymarket Shopping Centre under our belt, we continue to assess the potential for more 

beneficial use of the land in our existing portfolio, whilst maintaining the necessary balance across a 

broad range of sectors to minimise risk.   

57



 

50 

Short Term Strategic Focus — Consolidation, Optimisation and Targeted Investment  

In our last report we set out our Strategy and the areas of activity that we are focusing on in our 

management of the Council’s Corporate Estate portfolio. With a short-term focus on Consolidation, 

Optimisation and Targeted Investment, and a medium to long-term focus on Sustainable Growth, we 

are pleased to report significant progress in relation to the following key strategic activities: 

1. Income and Yield Enhancement by Making the Most of our Current Portfolio:  

 

• Ensure that all tenants are paying appropriate market rents  

We are reviewing our leases, modernising lease covenants as appropriate, and ensuring that our 

rents are competitive and in line with market rents. We expect to generate revenue growth of 

more than 10% from this activity. We are developing a transparent decision-making framework 

in relation to requests for below market value (BMV) commercial rentals. In addition, we are 

introducing improved policy provisions for rent review periods, conversion to geared leases, 

break clauses and lease length to support future revenue growth and risk management. Offices 

are a key focus for 2025 as the market rents are artificially low. 

 

• Provide more transparent service charge information to tenants and improve the service 

charge collection process  

We have improved the quality of our service charge schedules and are ensuring that Annual 

Service Charge Schedules are to RICS Standards with enhanced direct debit collection processes.  

 

• Re-purpose appropriate surplus operational assets to continue to offer secondary office/ 

business space  

Phoenix House and Sovereign House have improved occupancy in the final quarter of FY24/25 – 

showing that there is a slight upturn in demand for secondary office space in the Corporate 

Estate portfolio. This is constantly being balanced against the need to raise capital to support 

our revenue position wherever possible.  

 

• Maintain high occupancy and minimal void periods through improved property marketing 

including introducing an on-line, interactive property shop  

We are developing our specification that will enhance digitalisation of our workflows and 

channel shift our enquiry management processes to improve the customer experience.  

 

2. Risk Management:  

 

• Review our Retail Strategy to challenge our objectives and determine the level of our future 

presence  

We have adopted a Retail Strategy that recognises our commitment to maintain a city centre 

retail presence, supporting the retail recovery through flexible leases and incentives, along with 

additional planned investment and strategic acquisitions such as the Haymarket Shopping 

Centre; and that continues to acknowledge the importance of our locally based shops in serving 

the communities. We are continuing to invest in condition surveys and improvements in the 

Neighbourhood Retail sector and through shop front and locality improvements. 

 

 

58



 

51 

 

• Capitalise on opportunities to decarbonise our estate in line with MEES legislation  

The commercial real estate sector can play can an important role in realising UK net zero 
ambitions if government strategy and sector collaboration is targeted at decarbonising building 
stock, mitigating them against changing climate and meeting sustainable investment demand. 
 
Having delivered the £24 million funding programme to decarbonise our operational buildings 
we continue to seek and apply for every funding opportunity to decarbonise our Corporate 
Estate and improve our energy efficiency. Development of our new low carbon business units at 
the new Blackbird Industrial Estate demonstrates our commitment to driving forward to reach 
our net zero ambitions. 
 

3. Customer/Occupier/Tenant:  

• Continue to support the local economy by maintaining a balance of commercialism and 

social value in our property offer 

 

In addition to adopting our Retail Strategy, we are developing a strategy for our Managed 

Workspaces and reviewing our holdings in the ‘Other’ sector (such as car parks, garages and 

residential). We will continue to sweat out property assets to meet yield and income or capital 

improvements. 

 

 • Manage our tenant debt sensitively (both short-term and aged debt)  

We continue to work with our occupiers on ensuring that we liaise closely with tenants to 

provide and support affordable financial solutions, as appropriate, as well as signposting to 

grant/funding opportunities. We have made significant in-roads reducing our debt levels. On-

going close management and an improved focus on personalised support and relationships with 

our tenants will be our continued focus on customer service improvement. 

 

• Transition of regeneration workspaces to the Corporate Estate (based on an agreed 

regeneration to commercial lifecycle)  

With the addition of managed workspace assets such as Dock 2, 3 and 4 and the Gresham 

Building to the Regeneration portfolio along with the launch of creative workspaces at Canopy 

in 2025.  As part of our review of our Managed Workspace offer we have invested in new green 

leases and BREEAM excellent new industrial units at Blackbird Road, which will come online in 

2025/26. This demonstrates how we can target investment in modern small business units for 

start-ups and medium-sized grow-on space to support local business growth and in continuing 

to meet changes in business working practices.  

 

We are continuing to focus on Sustainable Growth and our medium to long term objectives 

to:  

 

• Invest in our high-performing and strategically important sites to provide a secure and 

sustainable revenue income.  

 

• Consider disposal of ageing/difficult to let/sub-optimal/end of useful lifecycle estate.  

 

59



 

52 

• Consider investment opportunities with strategic value in lower-risk growth sectors such as 

industrial, food or retail distribution/warehousing — sale and leaseback opportunities reduce 

risk further.  

 

• Work with OPE partners to enhance inward investment opportunities.  

 

• Invest in evidence-driven local growth (identifying sites for potential construction of new 

units/being responsive to the Local Plan).  

 

• Consider new sector investment opportunities.  

 

  

60



 

53 

2025 Market Commentary: 

 
This year’s forecasts suggest a stronger outlook and opportunity for UK property investment in 
2025/26 compared to last year, but the political landscape and interest rate story will remain 
prevalent drivers. 
 
A year ago, we predicted that 2024/25 would mark the bottom of the current real estate cycle, and 
that forecast has proven accurate. While we’re encouraged by the stability of a new government, 
the Budget, which focused on high taxes and limited growth, has tempered early optimism. 
Nonetheless, 2024 saw prices stabilise, with some relief from four interest rate cuts – which is hoped 
to provide for a full recovery. 
 
Looking ahead to 2025, we expect gradual improvements across the market. The fundamentals are 
strong: there is limited supply and availability of prime assets across the residential, commercial, and 
rural sectors, combined with rising demand, this bodes well for both rents and capital values.  
 
However, geopolitical instability and ongoing risks remain outside all of our control. 
We are optimistic as we enter the next stage of the real estate cycle. Further interest rate cuts are 
expected in 2025, improving project viability and boosting property appeal. With more funding 
available at lower rates bringing a wider range of buyers back to market, and a continued shortage 
of prime real estate, we are beginning to see upward price trends heading into the start of the year. 
 
2025 will see greater investor confidence in UK commercial property as the foundations of the 
commercial real estate recovery are in place. 

Given the major change of direction that is likely in US politics on 20 January 2025, starting our 
outlook with a quote from an inauguration speech seemed like an easy win. Franklin D Roosevelt, in 
1933 at the depth of the Great Depression said, “The only thing we have to fear is fear itself”. It isn’t 
a huge leap from this quote to the uncertainty and lack of confidence that continued to hang over 
the commercial property investment market in 2024, and the inevitable question of whether this fog 
of uncertainty will lift. 

 

61



 

54 

A year ago, we led on the headline that “2024 will be an opportunity to buy at the very bottom of 

the cycle” and, as the chart above shows, pricing in both offices and industrials turned last 

year. However, investment volumes remained muted. While they were over 20% above the previous 

year, they remain 22% below the ten-year average. This wasn’t just about cautious buyers, but also 

about limited distress in the market and a similarly limited number of willing vendors. 

 

Why will investors be more confident about UK commercial property in 2025? 

Twelve months ago, we were still speculating on when the Bank of England base rate would start to 
fall, and now we have four rate cuts under our belt. Our forward view is based around 100 basis 
points of further cuts over the course of both 2025 and 2026, and this alone will reduce the cost of 
borrowing, and in most markets and sectors make debt accretive. 

There is, however, a very wide range of views around the forward trajectory for interest rates, and 
this remains an area of uncertainty for investors both at the point of purchase and the eventual exit. 
The last two years have shown us that, for many investors, heightened uncertainty results in slower 
decision-making. 

Nonetheless, there are areas of uncertainty that we were dealing with a year ago that we can more 
firmly agree have disappeared. Political risk, at least in domestic politics, has diminished, and it is a 
reasonably credible argument that the UK looks less politically volatile than many of its nearest 
neighbours. The new Labour government has had its first Budget, and this should give investors, 
consumers and businesses a much clearer picture of the world in which they will be operating for a 
minimum of the next five years. The shape of the economic recovery is also clearer than it was.  

“While economic forecasts have been revised downward post-Budget, there is a widespread 
acceptance that 2025 and beyond will see accelerating GDP growth – something that is always 
good for real estate.” Mat Oakley, Director, Commercial Research 

While downturns are often very uniform, real estate market recoveries tend to be fairly 
asynchronous, and we do not expect this one to be different. The first sectors and segments to 
recover will be those where opportunistic investors feel there has been an overcorrection, or where 
core investors have confidence in occupational and structural drivers. 

Occupational market performance has been strong. Will this strength continue? 

One of the most unusual characteristics of the commercial property market in the UK in recent years 
has been the strength of many of the occupational markets through Covid and thereafter. This has 
been seen in many metrics – not least the relatively low vacancy rates for a recession, the 
comparatively strong take-up numbers, and ultimately the higher-than-normal prime rental growth 
that has been experienced in many markets. 

The roots of these trends go back almost a decade, to when developer confidence was weakened 
after the Brexit referendum. This, followed by Covid, surging inflation, high interest rates, and 
geopolitical shocks has led to a sustained period of under-delivery of new developments. While 
tenant demand has by no means been booming over the last three years, the lack of prime supply 
has driven better-than-normal rental growth for this stage of the cycle. 

An improving economy will result in business expansion, and this will lead to rising demand levels for 
shops, offices, factories and warehouses. Furthermore, lower levels of cost inflation should also be 
good for the profitability of UK plc. 

62



 

55 

The one wrinkle in this otherwise positive outlook is the fiscal regime, with the rise in employers’ 
national insurance contributions and the minimum wage, meaning that most companies will now 
have to look to raise prices or reduce spending to maintain margins. This will be felt in the leasing 
markets, and we have revised our take-up forecasts downwards a little to reflect a more cautious 
corporate environment in 2025 in particular. 

What hasn’t changed is the undersupply of prime space in core locations, and we do not expect to 
see development viability improving dramatically in 2025. This will mean that prime rental growth 
levels are likely to be sustained at their recent high levels and our forecasts assume that this 
undersupply remains a driver of total returns for all of the next five years. 

Will 2025’s recovery just be about Logistics, Life Sciences and Living? 

The end of the year always brings a sleigh-full of investor surveys, and this year’s sound remarkably 
similar to those previous. ‘Sheds, Meds and Beds’ was the great pre-Covid cliché, and not much has 
changed since then. 

The rationale behind such strategies is a solid one, based heavily around economic growth and 
favourable structural shifts. However, we have always been fans of the paths that are less well 
travelled, particularly at this stage of the cycle. 

The classic retail property cycle is well underway, with rents having corrected sharply downwards 
now back on an upwards curve as retailers repopulate repriced prime streets and schemes. 2025 will 
see more institutional interest in retail than we have seen for a decade, motivated both by the cycle 
and the rebuilding of household balance sheets.  

“Prime shopping centres, retail warehouse parks, and substantial high street parades are all 
expected to be popular buys in 2025.” Mat Oakley, Director, Commercial Research 

Offices remain the one sector where prime yields are yet to harden, but 2025 will be the year that 
this happens. The recent rental growth story is undeniable, and no longer just limited to super 
prime. The majority of major office markets have no new office buildings due for completion in the 
next three years, and tenant demand will recover in line with economic growth. This will ensure that 
office rental growth in core locations will remain strong. Some investors will stay away, either 
because of legacy issues or concerns about the impact of agile working, but the lure of rental growth 
and yield hardening will be too much to ignore for others 

 
Savills (UK Cross Sector Outlook – Commercial 2024/25)  

 

 

  

63



 

56 

Investment Overview - Leicestershire  

Investment activity in Leicestershire rose to its highest level in 10 years, with a total of £649m in 

transactions completed in 2024. The industrial sector continued to dominate activity, accounting for 

83% of the year’s transactions. The big deal of the year was private equity group Lone Star’s 

acquisition of East Midlands-based property business Charles Street Buildings for approximately 

£570m, known as Project Tiger. Of this, around £390m related to 15 multi-let industrial estates 

around Leicestershire, totalling about 4.5 million sq ft of industrial space. The deal is understood to 

have been underwritten on a stabilised yield of just over 8%. Another notable deal was Aviva’s 

purchase of Leicester Distribution Park for £102.5m, reflecting a net initial yield of 5.0%. The fully let 

eight-unit prime reversionary M1 logistics park was developed in three phases between 2017 and 

2022 and boasts strong ESG credentials. The most significant deal outside of the industrial sector 

was the £31.5m purchase of the Morrisons store at Gorse Covert Shopping Centre in Loughborough 

by GR Retail, as part of a two-property portfolio. The purchase price reflected a net initial yield of 

7.25%. Overall, despite a challenging first half of the year, prime yields began to stabilise around the 

midpoint and investment volumes have slowly started to recover from this point. Office and retail 

prime yields were stable at 7.50% and 6.50% respectively, while industrial yields edged in by 25 basis 

points to 5%. 

Innes England (Market Insite Brochure 2025)  

 

Total global commercial real estate (CRE) investment rose to US$806 billion in 2024, marking a +8% 

year on year increase, a significant rebound on the sharp 43% contraction recorded in 2023. Private 

investors dominated for the fourth consecutive year, contributing US$360 billion or 45% of total 

global investment volume, down slightly from 48% in 2023. Institutional buyers were the second 

most active group, deploying US$268 billion, some 33% of the total. Private, Institutional and Public 

buyers all recorded a rise in investment compared with 2023, with the exception of the User/other 

group, which fell 6%. Buyers in public markets saw the largest rise, posting a year on year increase of 

22% in 2024. While investor confidence remains resilient, institutional investors have adopted a 

more cautious approach, with their share of total investment standing below their long-term 

average of 40%. Meanwhile, private capital continues to be a key driver of the recovery, able to 

access a broad range of funding, allowing these buyers to act more opportunistically in the market.  

 

SECTORS IN DEMAND  

 

Just as in 2023, Industrial was the most invested CRE sector, accounting for just over a quarter of all 

global investment at US$216 billion. Living was close behind at US$205 billion, while Office 

investment reached US$173 billion. Although the Industrial, Office, Hotel and Living sectors all 

increased their share of total investment in 2024, Retail investment declined, its global share falling 

from 18% in 2023 to 16%. Similarly, Seniors housing & care shrank from 3% to 2%. WHO’S BUYING? 

Investors from the US, Canada and the UK were the most active sources of cross-border capital in 

2024. Among the top 10 global cross-border capital sources, the only investors to increase 

investment in 2024 were from Sweden (+128%), Canada (+73%), the UK (+70%), the US (+61%) and 

the Chinese mainland (+41%). The UK was the largest source of private cross-border capital in 2024, 

 

with investment increasing 224% year on year to US$3.3 billion – their first time topping the 

rankings since 2008. Private UK capital primarily targeted assets in Europe (France, Spain and 

Germany) and the US. By contrast, while private US capital grew modestly by +2% year on year to 

US$1.6 billion in 2024, the US slipped to fifth place in the top 10. London was the top metro 

64



 

57 

destination for cross-border investment in 2024, attracting a total of US$9.6 billion. Notably, the UK 

capital also reclaimed the top spot for overseas private capital, overtaking New York, which topped 

the rankings last year.  

THE OUTLOOK FOR 2025  

The overall picture in 2024 was one of economic resilience. The global battle against inflation had 

largely been won, interest rates were drifting downwards, and many economies were navigating a 

soft landing. However, considerable downside risks remain, including geopolitical uncertainties and 

uneven regional recoveries. Despite these challenges, a significant pool of capital remains ready for 

deployment. Anticipated interest rate cuts in the first half of 2025, combined with the continued 

decline in swap rates, are expected to create a more favourable investment environment. This 

should bolster investor confidence, improve market sentiment and helping unlock greater 

transaction volumes. Borrowing against property is already showing an upward trend, reflecting 

growing investor appetite, while global CRE pricing is beginning to stabilise. All this suggests that 

2025 could usher in a stronger phase of recovery, with increased capital flows and renewed 

momentum in the CRE sector.  

WHAT WILL INVESTORS BE TARGETING?  

Growth opportunities are emerging in select sectors. According to our Capital Gravity Model, from 

our Active Capital report, the logistics and living sectors are expected to attract the most significant 

investment, driven by long-term solid structural tailwinds. More specialist sectors such as healthcare 

and student housing are often high on investors’ wish lists due to their strong rental growth 

prospects and countercyclical nature. However, the operational complexities, compliance challenges 

and liquidity constraints associated with these assets may create hesitation among investors. 

Consequently, investors may be more inclined to transact within the more conventional CRE sectors. 

 

SECTORS TO WATCH 

From retail to operational real estate, we highlight some of the most exciting opportunities for those 

investing in commercial property. 

SAFE HAVENS 

Geopolitical risk will remain heightened in 2025, in particular across Europe, Asia and the Middle 

East. Investors will again take a positive view of commercial property in safe-haven locations. Offices 

in gateway cities remain one of the archetypal volatility hedges. Although there may be few outright 

bargains, the asset class is liquid, well-understood and accurately priced. For example, despite a 

somewhat subdued market over the past year, London was one of the largest recipients of cross-

border real estate investment, demonstrating the ongoing appeal of its commercial property sector. 

 

EUROPEAN RETAIL  

Economic prospects remain mixed but will not eclipse the attractions of European markets. Interest 

rates, already lower than most developed markets, are set to fall further, and this will be boosted by 

the relative liquidity of commercial property markets in Germany, France, Spain, Italy and the 

Netherlands. We anticipate many investors will remain focused on sectors with structural tailwinds, 

such as logistics and living (senior housing, student accommodation and build-to-rent), where it is 

easy to articulate the case for long-term investment. One sector to note is retail, especially in 

developed markets. Pricing has come under downward pressure in recent years, thanks to concerns 

– real or imagined – over the rise of e-commerce, the Covid-19 pandemic and the pace of wider 

65



 

58 

economic growth. Current pricing could represent an attractive entry point for well-chosen retail 

assets. 

LOGISTICS 

The logistics sector has been revolutionised over the past decade, with record investment volumes 

targeting available assets. As pricing has risen sharply, the question for investors is how many 

opportunities remain. In our view, the outlook is positive. Geopolitical uncertainty is driving a 

reassessment of optimal supply chains and, at the margins, an increase in demand for space. More 

generally, supply chains are subject to continuous refinement, leading to a steady flow of new 

leasing demand. Unlike some other commercial property types, lot sizes can be helpfully modest for 

those testing the waters. But what makes the sector particularly compelling for those with a longer-

term horizon is the potential for redevelopment. Although far from a guaranteed possibility for 

every site, as cities grow and demand for infrastructure proliferates, the ability to reimagine well-

located logistics assets for other uses will become an increasingly valuable option. 

OPERATIONAL REAL ESTATE 

The rise of operational real estate – in which the asset is intrinsically linked to the relevant business 

model – is one of the big growth stories in commercial property in recent years. From student 

housing to hotels, healthcare to data centres, such investments typically require buyers to run the 

assets as a business or at least put in place a team to do so. In their infancy, operational markets can 

seem opaque compared to more established alternatives. Inevitably, there is less data to draw on, 

and less history to study. However, as they mature, the picture can flip, with these assets generating 

very detailed information about performance precisely because they are so intertwined with the 

underlying business. 

ESG ASSETS 

Surveys carried out for The Wealth Report show a longstanding desire among respondents to engage 

in philanthropy and/or to make investment decisions based on more than hard financial 

considerations. In recent years, this has led to a big shift among private investors towards acquiring 

assets that support ESG strategies (for example through retrofitting or refurbishing, see page 47). So 

far, much of the focus has been on the “E” (environmental) part, perhaps unsurprising given our own 

research shows a clear link between assets that meet modern sustainability standards and 

investment performance. The “S” (social) aspect is harder to measure and attracts less attention, but 

is arguably no less important. In fact, when we surveyed institutional investors in commercial 

property, nine in 10 had social targets. So, what does this mean in practice? At one end of the 

spectrum, 73% were targeting workplace wellbeing. More ambitious were the 56% seeking 

improvements in the public realm, and the 35% looking to support local communities. Measuring the 

efficacy of such investment goals can involve more than just straightforward financial metrics with 

investors relying on an alphabet soup of frameworks, benchmarks and tools – GRESB, SDGs, RESVI, 

ESRS, CSRD and SROI, to name just a few – to help quantify and report social impact. 

 

KEEPING IT REAL 

From the rise of online shopping to the post-pandemic work-from-home trend, shifts in real estate 

markets are fuelling assumptions that could lead to missed opportunities for investors. We separate 

the myths from the reality. 

 

 

66



 

59 

 

THE OFFICE IS DEAD  

Post-pandemic, more people are working from home and office occupancy is falling far from being 

obsolete, the office is evolving to meet the demands of modern work and shifting employee 

expectations. Hybrid working is driving companies to rethink office spaces, emphasising flexibility 

and purpose. As businesses adapt, the office will transform into a dynamic hub for meaningful 

workplace experiences and a strong organisational culture. 

 

RETAIL IS HISTORY  

The rise of online has made retail real estate uninvestable. Retail remains a key driver of global 

economic growth, fuelled by population increases and rising per capita spending. Online sales still 

represent a small share of global retail, and multi-channel models are outpacing online-only, with 

store-based ecosystems outperforming. After past corrections, retail has reclaimed top asset-class 

status in some markets including the UK, delivering total returns in 2024 of 8.2% vs 5.1% for all 

property. 

 

ESG IS NO LONGER RELEVANT 

Governments around the world are placing less emphasis on ESG, and investors should do the same 

This argument is flawed for several reasons. COP29 brought a renewed focus on climate action, 

making it risky to downplay ESG concerns. Institutional investors, key drivers of green building 

progress, are unlikely to abandon sustainability for short-term political shifts. Additionally, legislation 

and public demand for sustainable investments can quickly rebound, leaving those acquiring non-

compliant buildings with no clear mitigation strategy and vulnerable to illiquidity. 

THERE’S NO PLACE FOR DATA CENTRES IN A SUSTAINABLE STRATEGY 

High energy use conflicts with environmental goals While they remain major consumers of energy 

and water, data centres are transitioning towards renewable energy sources with many also 

adopting more sustainable practices such as using recycled water for cooling and selecting sites to 

minimise ecological disruption. Data centres also enable environmental efficiencies by deploying 

technologies such as AI and big data analytics, which enhance energy and resource management. 

Cloud computing infrastructures reduce the need for physical hardware, cutting waste and 

supporting virtual services that lower carbon footprints. 

GEOPOLITICAL TENSIONS ARE BAD FOR SUPPLY CHAINS 

Demand for logistics real estate will suffer as a consequence of instability Geopolitical upheaval can 

disrupt trade routes and sourcing strategies, affecting warehousing needs. However, it also creates 

opportunities. Companies may shift production closer to consumers, shortening supply chains, or 

hold more stock to safeguard against disruptions. Both strategies boost demand for local industrial 

and logistics facilities. 

AI IS STEALING OUR JOBS  

Demand for office space will plummet as a result of technological advances Fears that AI will 

eliminate jobs oversimplify its impact. AI is reshaping work by augmenting roles, not erasing them, 

and could solve the productivity puzzle. Rather than reducing the workforce, AI drives innovation 

and creates dynamic career opportunities in a changing economy. 

 

67



 

60 

REPURPOSING IS THE ANSWER FOR EVERY CHALLENGED ASSET 

Changing use is an easy way to enhance value Building obsolescence comes in many flavours: 

regulatory, functional, physical and financial. When these limits are reached, the call to “repurpose” 

grows louder. But one size does not fit all. We identify five types of renovation: from light-touch 

retrofitting, all the way to full-scale redevelopment. The key to identifying the appropriate action is 

viability. Simply put, an approach that is financially viable in one location may not stack up in 

another. 

 

IT’S ALL ABOUT THE NEXT BIG THING  

The key to success in real estate investing is to be at the forefront of the latest trends For a class of 

assets with a potentially indefinite lifespan, the world of commercial real estate can seem oddly 

fixated on the new. Riding these waves can be one way to generate attractive returns. But an almost 

universal truth in commercial real estate is that income trumps capital growth over the longer term. 

That means some of the most attractive performance might, in fact, come from resolutely unexciting 

real estate sectors. 

 

The Wealth Report 2025 – Knight Frank 

 

 
 
  

68



 

61 

10. CLOSING STATEMENT  

 

The resilience of our investments across the Corporate Estate has reported a strong 9.1% increase in 

gross income, this, despite a backdrop of continuing economic uncertainty across investment 

markets this year. At 1.51% of the Council’s overall net revenue budget, our Corporate Estate 

doesn’t expose us to significant risk around macro market fluctuations, but we remain vigilant and 

are working hard to continuously improve our returns as well as the value of the service that we 

provide to our tenants across the estate. The Corporate Estate continues to provide good economic 

investment, performing very well above CCLA trends, bringing with it a solid year of results in the 

performance of our portfolio in a changing market. Whilst the economy has started to show signs of 

improvement, our financial performance has been solid, with demand and occupation remaining 

high, and voids remaining low against a challenging year for retail and secondary office nationally.   

Being mindful of the prevailing fiscal pressures, we will continue to resource around protecting the 

value of our estate as well as improving our customer experience and aligning the Council’s revenue 

from rent and service charges in line with the market. And, whilst economic growth was not 

predicted this year, other social, political, and environmental factors have remained in check. Our 

strategy to hold firm has resulted in strong yields and improved net income. Our plan over the next 

year is to ensure that our strategic investments continue on an upward trajectory and disinvestment 

of our wider estate allows for the private sector to support regenerative schemes and economic 

development of the city and neighbourhoods.  

We continue to actively focus on our net zero ambitions and sustainability remains at the forefront 

of our strategic improvements including a cleaner and greener property portfolio. FY24/25 

continued to show improvement in the Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) of our 

Corporate Estate and we continue to be committed to meeting our net zero ambitions for our 

buildings. 2025/26 will see further investment in our Corporate Estate in order to meet more 

challenging mandatory MEES targets from 2027 onwards. We will continue to work with our tenants 

to improve and enhance our estate wherever possible and by exploiting available grant funding.  

The breadth of our portfolio, which is wholly invested in the local area, alongside a strategy that is 

underpinned by robust governance and strong risk management, has enabled us to maintain a solid 

revenue returns and capital yield year-on-year. Our future strategy is not governed solely by revenue 

or yield, rather, it is activity-focussed across a range of areas, to optimise returns, maintain good 

quality stock, and improve the covenant quality for tenants, whilst providing a range of 

accommodation to support the local economy, businesses, small and large, established and new. 

After a year of continued stabilisation and improved performance, our promise remains steadfast in 

that we will continue to proactively manage our portfolio, its suitability and performance, as well as 

its financial returns – including considering the wider financial challenges faced by local government 

under the backdrop of a reduction in central government funding over the last decade. Our strategic 

focus will remain on continuing to achieve excellent yields from our investment portfolio by 

disposing of low yielding assets or where yield growth is not achievable. We will continue to 

integrate our ESG considerations to our investment and management activity, ensuring that our 

portfolio remains both stable and sustainable, now, and into the future. 

Richard Sword 

Strategic Director for City Development and Neighbourhoods  

69



 

62 

References: 

Carter Jonas. (2025). September 2025 Commercial Market Outlook. 
 
CBRE. (2025). UK Real Estate Market Outlook. London: CBRE. 
CBRE. (2025). UK Mid-Year Market Outlook 2025. CBRE. 
CBRE. (2025). UK Retail Parks Market Outlook 2025. 
 
CCLA. The Local Authorities’ Property Fund Annual Report and Financial Statements year ended 31 
March 2025 and Interim Report September 2025. London. CCLA.  
 
Cluttons. (2025). Commercial Quarterly Examiner: Retail Market Update Q1 2025. 

Innes England. (2025). Market Insite - Report. Innes England 2025.  
 
IPF. (2024/25). UK Consensus Forecasts Full and Interim Reports 
 
MRI Software. (2025). Revealed: UK Shopping Hotspots 2025. 
 
RICS. (2025). UK Commercial Property Monitor Market Survey Q1 2024 to Q1 2025 
RICS. (2025). UK Commercial Real Estate Impact Report. March 2025. RICS. 

Savills. (2025). UK Cross Sector Outlook 2024: Commercial (2024). Savills. 
Savills. (2025). Commercial Market in Minutes – April 2025. Savills. 

 

Notes: 

As one of the UK's largest local authority and charity fund managers, the CCLA manages investments 

for the public sector, charities, and religious organizations. Investments include the Local Authorities 

Property Fund that aims to provide investors with a high level of income and long-term capital 

appreciation.  

 

70



  

 

November 13, 2025 
 
 

Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence in 

Leicester  
Briefing 

 
Lead Member: Cllr Elly Cutkelvin 

Strategic Director, Social Care and Education: Laurence Mackie-Jones 
 
 
 
 

 

71

Appendix D



 

 

Useful information 
 Ward(s) affected: All 
 Report author: Stephanie McBurney 
 Author contact details: 0116 454 0255 
 Report version number: V5 
 

1. Summary 
1.1. This paper updates the reader on local domestic abuse need, the types of service 

currently available locally, the approach in Leicester and plans to continue to better 
meet local need. 
 

1.2. A new statutory definition of domestic abuse was introduced in 2021 by the Domestic 
Abuse Act1.  The definition remains focused on those aged 16 and above yet 
specifically registers that children related to those impacted or abusing are to be 
considered as victims where they see or hear, or experience the effects of, the 
abuse. Sexual violence largely concerns any unwanted sexual activity or act without 
consent.   

 
1.3. Significant numbers of children and adults in Leicester are known to be affected by 

domestic abuse and sexual violence, and these numbers are thought to be an under 
representation of all who will have been affected.  The Crime Survey for England 
and Wales recorded that only 19% of those who had experienced partner abuse in 
the last 12 months had reported to police (ONS 2023).  The National Police Chiefs 
Council stated in 2024 that “Not only is VAWG growing, but we are also seeing ever 
more complicated types of offending which causes significant harm to victims and 
society as a whole. One in every six murders related to domestic abuse in 22/23, 
with suspected victim suicides following domestic abuse rising year-on-year.”   

 
1.4. The average length of abuse reported by local victim-survivors accessing specialist 

support in Leicester2 2021-24 was 4 years.  The abuse profile reported to specialist 
services is slightly higher than the national3 data set for the more severe levels of 
abuse.  Victims are likely to report having a disability, and there is high demand for 
domestic abuse safe accommodation in Leicester.   

 
1.5. In Leicester a domestic abuse locality partnership board oversees delivery of the 

local safe accommodation strategy and all domestic abuse act part four duties 
supported by a delivery group.  Membership reflects the requirements of the Act. 

 
1.6. Leicester has a range of commissioned safe accommodation and related support 

services, and several services that are not commissioned by the local authority.  The 
city council works collaboratively with Leicestershire and Rutland, and the Police 
and Crime Commissioner to improve outcomes for those affected by domestic abuse 
and reduce the harm caused.   

 
1.7. Since the new duties began, the partnership has developed and increased the 

number of second stage units available, introduced a commission for dispersed 
accommodation and increased the number of women, men and children supported 

 
1 Domestic Abuse Statutory Guidance 
2 Completing Insights monitoring 
3 Insights monitoring system from Safe Lives 

72

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/62c6df068fa8f54e855dfe31/Domestic_Abuse_Act_2021_Statutory_Guidance.pdf


 

 

in safe accommodation overall (see Appendix One and Two for a glossary of types 
of accommodation and terms).  There has been a reduction in the numbers 
accommodated from out of area and the partnership has learnt from three pilot 
projects (housing link workers, young people’s safe accommodation service and the 
respite rooms initiative). A new homelessness domestic abuse co-ordinator is now 
in post, part funded through the Act, and specialist counselling, resettlement, 
immigration and children’s workers are in post working across different sites.     

 
1.8. The 2021-24 domestic abuse needs assessment (Appendix Four Executive 

Summary) is a retrospective detailed examination of the offer over the past 3 years.  
It will continue to help inform the next safe accommodation strategy and future 
commissioning of safe accommodation related services.  Workforce development 
and communication will remain an important thread as we seek to further develop 
the pathways, accommodation and support available, aiming to reach people earlier, 
reduce harm to children and adults, and support recovery and wellbeing.    

 
 

 
2. Recommended actions 
 2.1 Committee members are recommended to note the role and responsibilities of the 

Leicester Domestic Abuse Locality Partnership Board and support it to deliver its 
functions.  

 
 2.2 Committee members are recommended to note and support continued departmental 

and cross-departmental work to improve domestic abuse data, to evidence the 
appropriate identification and response to domestic abuse for adults and children and 
better understand impact and value for money.   

 
 2.3 Committee members are recommended to note the range of specialist services 

available for those affected by domestic abuse in Leicester, encourage their use, and 
promote feedback opportunities to support further improvements.   

 
   

 
3. Stakeholder engagement 
3.1 Engagement activity is threaded throughout the domestic abuse locality partnership 

board structure.  This includes:  
▪ routine engagement with those in receipt of services, and staff delivering the 

services,  
▪ representation at Board level, and  
▪ commitment to co-production to inform commissioning, communication and 

development activity.   
 
3.2. The domestic abuse needs assessments are informed by engagement data and further 

shaped by collaborative work to determine the key statements.  This involved a 
significant number of partnership members in different positions across organisations.   

 
3.3. Members of the public can always feedback on local services by completing a Microsoft 

Office forms survey or by contacting the domestic and sexual violence team via email 
or telephone, with full details on the council web page.  Those affected by domestic 
abuse can take part in engagement events held in person and on-line. There is a 

73



 

 

‘Scrutiny and Reference’ group of people, with lived experience of domestic abuse, 
supported by the domestic and sexual violence team.   

 
 

4. Background  
 
4.1. Definitions of domestic abuse and sexual violence 
4.1.1 The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 set a new statutory definition of domestic abuse4 in 

Part One.  The definition sets out the types of relationship and behaviour included. 
Behaviour is “domestic abuse” if both people are each aged 16 or over and are 
personally connected to each other, and the behaviour is abusive.   

 
       Behaviour is “abusive” if it consists of any of the following— 

(a)  physical or sexual abuse; 
(b)  violent or threatening behaviour; 
(c)  controlling or coercive behaviour; 
(d)  economic abuse; 
(e)  psychological, emotional or other abuse. 

       
      “Personally connected” is defined as –  
       (a)  they are, or have been, married to each other; 
       (b)  they are, or have been, civil partners of each other; 
       (c)  they have agreed to marry one another (whether or not the agreement has been 

terminated); 
       (d)  they have entered into a civil partnership agreement (whether or not the 

agreement has been terminated); 
       (e)  they are, or have been, in an intimate personal relationship with each other; 
       (f)  they each have, or there has been a time when they each have had, a parental 

relationship in relation to the same child; 
       (g)  they are relatives. 

 
4.1.2 Children as victims of domestic abuse are specifically referenced in the Domestic 

Abuse Act.  Any reference in the Act to a victim of domestic abuse includes a reference 
to a child who— 
       (a)  sees or hears, or experiences the effects of, the abuse, and 
       (b)  is related to the person using abuse or the person experiencing abuse. 

 
4.1.3 There is no current statutory definition of “sexual violence” in the United Kingdom 

(UK).  The Sexual Offences Act 2003 defines several sexual offences including rape, 
sexual assault and assault by penetration.  There are commonalities in agency 
definitions of “Sexual violence”.  England and Wales Rape Crisis define it as ‘any kind 
of sexual activity or act (including online) that was unwanted or involved one or more 
of the following: 

• pressure 
• manipulation 
• bullying 
• intimidation 
• threats 
• deception 
• force 

 
4 Statutory definition of domestic abuse factsheet - GOV.UK 

74

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-bill-2020-factsheets/statutory-definition-of-domestic-abuse-factsheet


 

 

       In other words, any kind of sexual activity or act that took place without consent’5. 
 
4.1.4 Sexual violence is commonly experienced within domestic abuse, and a significant 

proportion of sexual offences recorded by the police involve an intimate partner.   
    
 
4.2. Local Picture 
4.2.1   One of the most common methods for estimating local prevalence of domestic abuse 

is to apply the proportions disclosed in the Crime Survey for England and Wales 
(CSEW) self- completion module6.  This is acknowledged as a likely under-
estimate. The questions relate to abuse experienced in the last 12 months and 
since the age of 16.  

 
4.2.2     In Leicester, this would reflect at least 59,663 adults having experienced since the 

age of 16.  The calculation does not consider children as victims, or our younger 
population, and it is the 16-19 and 20-24 age bands that report the highest levels 
of experience.   

 
4.2.3.   12,699 calls were recorded by the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland domestic 

abuse and sexual violence helpline (commissioned by the police and crime 
commissioner) 2024-25. 

 
4.2.4.    24% of all contacts recorded by Children’s Social Care note a domestic abuse 

factor, averaging 428 a month.   
 
4.2.5.   Leicestershire Police recorded 3,020 domestic abuse incidents and 6,784 domestic 

abuse related offences in 2024-25.  Domestic abuse related offences reflect around 
30% of the violent crime in Leicester.  The city has opened 24 domestic homicide 
reviews since 2012.   

 
4.2.6.  432 referrals of people resident in Leicester were received by the LLR sexual 

violence service across 2024-25.  60%7 of these referrals were made direct to the 
service by Police on behalf of victim-survivors.  26% of domestic abuse victim-
survivors report sexual abuse within their abuse profile, 9% of which were reports 
of high severity sexual abuse8.   

 
4.2.7.    Data analysis developments form part of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland   

Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
Partnership VAWG Strategy - 2024-2026.  Sexual violence data also forms part of 
local work on the Serious Violence Duty – see Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
Serious Violence Prevention Strategy 2023-28 (available using link above for the 
Duty). 

  
4.2.8.  The Leicester Community Safety Partnership has a range of key strategic priorities 

including violent crime which is significantly relevant for domestic abuse and sexual 

 
5 What is sexual violence? | Rape Crisis England & Wales 
6 For further discussion and explanation of this approach see The Measurement of Domestic Abuse – 
Redeveloping the Crime Survey for England and Wales | Journal of Family Violence and Domestic abuse in later 
life: A secondary analysis of the Crime Survey for England and Wales - Hannah Bows, Merili Pullerits, Iain 
Brennan, 2025 
7 Source: Insights 2024-25 Sexual Violence Dashboard Leicester 
8 Source: Insights 2024-25 Domestic Abuse Adults Dashboard Leicester 

75

https://www.leics.pcc.police.uk/DOCUMENT-LIBRARY/Transparency/Newsletters-and-Publications/Publications/Leicester-Leicestershire-and-Rutland-Partnership-VAWG-Strategy-2024-2026.pdf
https://www.leics.pcc.police.uk/DOCUMENT-LIBRARY/Transparency/Newsletters-and-Publications/Publications/Leicester-Leicestershire-and-Rutland-Partnership-VAWG-Strategy-2024-2026.pdf
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-safety/leicester-community-safety-partnership/serious-violence-duty/
https://rapecrisis.org.uk/get-informed/about-sexual-violence/what-is-sexual-violence/
https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10896-023-00507-9
https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10896-023-00507-9
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/14773708251335388
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/14773708251335388
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/14773708251335388


 

 

violence.  Domestic abuse is named as a crosscutting theme throughout all the 
priorities to ensure its aways considered.  Leicester Community Safety Partnership 
plan. 

 
        
4.3. Insight  
4.3.1.    The average length of abuse reported by local victim-survivors accessing specialist 

support in Leicester9 2021-24 was 4 years.  The abuse profile reported to specialist 
services is slightly higher than the national10 data set, for the more severe levels of 
abuse.  Police data indicates that higher levels11 of repeat victimisation, involving 
multiple incidents in a 12-month period, was more likely for those aged 25-34, 
female and White British (data from 2023-24).  Those not able to access refuge 
accommodation between 2022-23 were more likely than those accommodated to 
have a physical disability.  The age of those most likely to be accommodated in 
refuge was 25-34 (2021-24), which is slightly older than that reflected in the CSEW 
(16-19), potentially highlighting some barriers to this age group.   

 
4.3.2.   The CSEW notes that people of mixed ethnicity are amongst the most likely to 

experience (not necessarily report) domestic abuse.  People of this ethnic group 
are reflected in local commissioned service data at slightly higher proportions than 
reflected in the census, as with those of Pakistani and White British ethnicity. The 
locally commissioned domestic abuse services are reaching victim-survivors 
largely reflective of the local community and in line with national prevalence data.  
Not being safe in the area and having no recourse to public funds were the most 
common barriers to securing accommodation. (2023-24). 

 
4.3.3.    Both Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) data – which is specific 

to victims of domestic abuse at high risk of homicide or serious injury – and 
commissioned service data shows a higher level of disabled victim-survivors than 
(1) the most similar police force area and (2) the national Insights dataset. The city 
MARAC data also shows higher levels of victims aged 16 and 17.  There is some 
indication in the needs assessment data that those with a higher level of need are 
more likely to be aged 45-54 and English, Welsh, Scottish, Northern Irish or British.    

 
4.3.4.   The Leicester domestic abuse needs assessments contain further detail on local 

need and outcomes.   
 
4.4. Vision and Governance 
4.4.1.  The requirement for a domestic abuse locality partnership board was set out in the 

domestic abuse act 2021.  The Leicester safe accommodation strategy 2022-25, also 
a statutory requirement, sets out a vision for a strong local partnership that understands 
local need and barriers to safe accommodation, and works to make improvements as 
part of a co-ordinated community response to domestic abuse. 

 
4.4.2.   The domestic abuse locality partnership board is supported by a delivery group, 

both meeting quarterly to review risks and progress.  The work plan has relevance 
for housing, homelessness, health and well-being, serious violence, safeguarding, 
violence against women and girls, the community safety plan and the police and 
crime plan.   

 
9 Completing Insights monitoring 
10 Insights monitoring system from Safe Lives 
11 6+ within 12 months 

76

https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-safety/leicester-community-safety-partnership/leicester-community-safety-partnership-plan/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-safety/leicester-community-safety-partnership/leicester-community-safety-partnership-plan/


 

 

 
4.4.3.  Victim voice, an attendance tracker, the delivery plan and a key performance 

indicator dashboard are tools used to monitor performance.  
 
4.4.4.   Annually on, or before, the 30 June an online return is required by the MHCLG to 

report on strategy and funding, as well as data.     
 
4.4.5.  The Leicester domestic abuse locality partnership board feeds into a LLR co-

ordination group for domestic abuse and sexual violence, which in turn reports to 
the adult vulnerability and offending board, part of the strategic partnership board 
structure Partnerships.         

 
 
4.5. Resource and Services 
4.5.1.    The new statutory duties were accompanied by additional funding.  The grant is to 

support delivery against Part Four of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021, specifically the 
safe accommodation related duties.  The government evaluation of the safe 
accommodation states: “access to support was improved by having a breadth of 
provision (both of support services and forms of safe accommodation), especially 
for those with additional needs or specific characteristics. Providing a range of 
options allowed for a better match between service provision and survivors' needs, 
with choice being a key factor in accessing support” (MHCLG 202512). 

 
4.5.2.    Mark Morrin of ResPublica notes that “The problems of ‘failure demand’ are endemic 

across our public services. The inability to effectively help victims of domestic 
abuse, at the first presentation of need, can lead to repeated and additional 
interventions involving healthcare and police services, as well as the wider criminal 
justice system. This is more expensive, more resource intensive and more wasteful. 
Ultimately the human and emotional cost of not investing in domestic abuse can be 
fatal for victims and devastating for their families.” (Women’s Aid 2023 Investing to 
Save). The report calculates that: 

 
        

      “for every pound invested in domestic abuse support services we will see a 
saving to the public purse of at least £9.”13 

 
4.5.3. One of the most common needs cited by victim-survivors accessing specialist 

domestic abuse support from the VCS, is housing.  The volume reporting housing 
related need is far higher than the number referred/referring themselves for refuge 
accommodation (which is one type of safe accommodation).   

 
4.5.4. The Council of Europe Convention on preventing and combating violence against 

women and domestic violence, also known as “the Istanbul Convention”, requires 
parties to develop laws, policies and support services to end violence against women 
and domestic violence.  The Council of Europe have set a level of 10 spaces of 
refuge accommodation for every 10,000 population. Therefore, a city the size of 
Leicester would be expected to have at least 37 refuge units. As a city we exceed 
that number.   

 

 
12 Evaluation of the Domestic Abuse Duty for Support in Safe Accommodation 
13 Respublica_web.pdf 

77

https://www.leics.pcc.police.uk/Our-Work/Partnerships.aspx
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/687a5b7a9b1337e9a7726baf/250718_DA_Duty_Eval_Main_report.pdf
https://www.womensaid.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Respublica_web.pdf


 

 

4.5.5.  Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) have worked together with the Police 
and Crime Commissioner (PCC) on commissioning domestic abuse and sexual 
violence related services since 2015.  The current LLR domestic abuse and sexual 
violence ‘service system’, which has been the main entry point to domestic abuse 
related support (of the helpline and engagement service), is supplemented by a 
range of community and safe accommodation related support services.  

 
4.5.6. Domestic abuse locality (community) services were commissioned in 2021 to the 

same specification across (1) Leicester and (2) Leicestershire & Rutland.  As part of 
this system, the OPCC commissioned the elements of the system that worked across 
LLR, giving space for the local authorities to commission additional provision in line 
with their unique needs assessments. A sexual violence support service operates 
across LLR as does a domestic abuse perpetrator intervention programme 
(voluntary referral). A training offer was embedded within the service system, with 
set numbers of days training commitment within each contract, to support the 
development of the wider local workforce.  Multiple services with the city council 
have, and continue to, benefit from this training programme.   

 
4.5.7.  In Leicester, there are specialist safe accommodation (refuge and second stage, and 

immigration support) services provided by a Black and Minoritised Ethnic (BME14) 
Community specialist, ‘by and for’ organisation.  There are also safe accommodation 
support services specific to counselling, resettlement, children and immigration.   

 
4.5.8.  Leicester also benefits from a range of VCS services which are not commissioned 

by the local authority.  These include refuge accommodation provided by Action 
Homeless, Zinthiya Trust and Women’s Aid Leicestershire.   

 
4.5.9. The Domestic Abuse Commissioner’s mapping report of domestic abuse services 

across England and Wales: ‘A Patchwork of Provision’ found that “67% Black and 
minoritised ethnic (BME) survivors want to access specialist ‘by and for’ support 
delivered by their community” because “specialist ‘by and for’ organisations are 
better able to understand the context and complexity of abuse they face and build 
the trust critical to effectively assess risk and provide the right support. These 
organisations are also able to understand the intersecting layers of discrimination 
faced by victims and survivors from marginalised communities. This is reflected in 
the outcomes of these survivors, with those who access ‘by and for’ support feeling 
safer compared to those who have accessed other types of support or have not 
accessed any support.”15 

 
4.5.10.  Southall Black Sisters 2024 Investing in Safety report states a net public savings 

average of £18,024 per woman helped over a three-year period, for local public 
services. 

 
4.5.11. The cost to families and friends cannot be quantified, but the Home Office estimate 

the financial cost to society and the public purse of a single domestic homicide is 

 
14 Term change from ‘minority’ to reflect the global majority/power dynamic that can create systemic barriers 
and specific issues that can create disparity. It is not used to signify homogeneity of experience. Individual ethnic 
group data is used in the needs assessment where it was available. 
15 by-and-for-costings-paper-UPLOAD-FEB-25.pdf 

78

https://domesticabusecommissioner.uk/wp-content/uploads/2024/10/by-and-for-costings-paper-UPLOAD-FEB-25.pdf


 

 

£2.9m.16  The average cost of domestic homicide review is £10,000 and rising (LGA 
survey report 2024). 

 
4.5.12.  The non-statutory guidance on Family Hubs Service Expectations17 (Feb 2025 DoE 

and DHSC) sets out minimum domestic abuse support expectations. These include 
awareness of the definition and local specialist support for victims and perpetrators 
and the ability to connect people to those services.   

 
 
             Table 1: Progress in safe accommodation support provision 2021-2024 

(*refer to Appendix One for glossary of definitions for types of accommodation noted) 
 
Safe Accommodation 
Type 

Needs, gaps, and priorities (as at 
2021) 

Position March 2025 

Refuge provision Data indicates a need for more 
locations so those not safe in one area 
of the city can flee to another to be 
safe. 

New locations added in 2022. 
 

Specialist safe 
accommodation 

Data indicates a need for a specialist 
safe accommodation option for young 
people. 

YPIDVA pilot collated learning. 

Dispersed 
accommodation 

Data indicates need for this type of 
accommodation (not currently 
commissioned). 

4 units were successfully 
commissioned in 2024. An 
additional 3 units were 
commissioned in 2025. 

Sanctuary scheme 
properties 

Available but outcomes not tracked 
outside of fitting target hardening 
measures (not commissioned at tier 
one level) 

OPCC funding ended March 
2024. Monitoring is now in place 
and work underway to secure 
funding for a city service. 

Second stage 
accommodation 

Not commissioned. 
 

9 units. 

Other forms of 
domestic abuse 
emergency 
accommodation 

Respite rooms pilot scheme funding 
had been secured from central 
government. 

Respite rooms funding ended.  
Homelessness service is 
working on recording processed 
for the cohort that meet the 
definition.   

Support Type 
Advocacy Delivered to those victims of domestic 

abuse with a housing need through in-
house staffing and through other 
domestic abuse provision such as the 
helpline, outreach, and recovery 
services.   

Continued and strengthened 
through the practitioner 
network, enhanced promotion of 
housing response to domestic 
abuse training and insights from 
the housing link worker pilot. 

Prevention advice Viewed as core to all services 
commissioned. 

As was. 

 
16 dac_dardom_summary_V3.pdf referencing Home Office 2019 report ‘the economic and social costs of 
domestic abuse’ 
17 Family Hubs and Start for Life programme: local authority guide 2025 to 2026 - GOV.UK 

79

https://domesticabusecommissioner.uk/wp-content/uploads/2025/07/dac_dardom_summary_V3.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/family-hubs-and-start-for-life-programme-local-authority-guide-2025-to-2026


 

 

Specialist support Specialist CYPFS and BME domestic 
abuse support is provided through 
tailored contracts.   

Specialist BME, immigration 
and resettlement support. 

Children’s support There is a service provided, with a 
specific remit to support CYP within 
safe accommodation. 

Expanded with a specific post 
for general refuge and 
dispersed accommodation. 

Housing related 
support 

Core service within all accommodation 
related service specifications. 
Need to expand dedicated provision in 
homelessness services [for those in 
safe accommodation] as this has 
worked well with the Safe Home 
Service. 

Expanded with a specific co-
ordinator post (part funded by 
the Part Four grant) in the 
homelessness service and 
learning from the young 
persons pilot and the housing 
link worker pilot.   

Advice service Viewed as core to all services 
commissioned. 

Enhanced through immigration 
support. 

Counselling and 
therapy including 
group support and 
emotional support 

Emotional support remit and trauma 
informed practice is included within the 
existing contracts.    

Specific counselling options 
funded for those in general 
refuge and dispersed.  Access 
to group and emotional support 
in the community continues 
through commissioned and non-
commissioned provision. 

 
   
 
4.6. Opportunities and challenges 
4.6.1.     All local domestic abuse commissioned services are accredited by national bodies, 

covering support for domestic abuse victims and some specialisms such as sexual 
violence and male victims.   

 
4.6.2.   Information from a range of sources indicates that pathways remain an area for 

ongoing monitoring and improvement.  This includes some duplication and 
disengagement/decline of service.  Long term sustainable safety and recovery for 
adults and children is challenging to achieve, as mentioned earlier in this report, 
with repeat victimisation common.  The commissioned services are reaching a 
population that reflects what would be expected, from both the local census and the 
CSEW, with positive outcome evidenced and strong social value. 

 
4.6.3.    Within local authority services significant domestic abuse related demand is evident, 

with the higher numbers recorded by children’s social care and homelessness.  
There is less available evidence of proportionate reach/identification, impact and 
outcomes for those affected by domestic abuse known to city council internal 
services.  There is feedback from victim-survivors that highlights very positive 
practice and some frustrations.  Identification levels appear low amongst housing 
management and ASC populations.  

 
4.6.4.    The number and type of safe accommodation units available in Leicester has grown 

since the Act was introduced, however challenges remain in move on, connected 
to the housing crisis, and managing voids (spaces vacant and ready to let) in the 
available accommodation.  Examples have been shared of people stating that they 
would prefer to stay in hotel accommodation than move into refuge 

80



 

 

accommodation.  Bed and breakfast accommodation is not deemed safe 
accommodation.  New communications materials have been developed in 2025 to 
help inform people of their choices and combat some of the myths that surround 
refuge accommodation. The PCC stopped funding target hardening in March 2024.  
This has removed a universal Sanctuary offer for victim-survivors.  Housing 
management complete such measures for local authority tenants but cannot, at the 
moment, easily provide the data on the number of domestic abuse victim-survivors 
benefitting.   

 
4.6.5.   Some challenges have been highlighted regarding pathways to and from mental 

health support and domestic abuse specialist support, with anecdotal evidence 
presented of victim-survivors being referred by their GP (sometimes as signposted 
by domestic abuse services) to talking therapy provision, who then assess them as 
not suitable due to their experience of domestic abuse and/or sexual violence, 
referring onward to domestic abuse specialist services and of referrals from second 
tier mental health provision directly into domestic abuse safe accommodation that 
might not be suitable. Mental health related need is one of the highest needs for 
local victim-survivors.          

 
4.7. Progress 
4.7.1.  Progress against the local domestic abuse safe accommodation strategy is 

monitored quarterly through a range of 15 key performance indicators (KPIs) and a 
delivery plan.  The KPIs focus on safe accommodation data and reflect the 
partnership roles.  An annual impact report is produced to capture some of the wider 
work streams. 

 
4.7.2.    In the last 12 months, a Power BI performance dashboard has been developed to 

help with engagement, understanding and analysis.  This is useful as the data set 
is relatively new, significantly fluctuates in many areas, and multiple factors 
influence the numbers.  

 
4.7.3.    Additional dispersed units have been agreed and a range of new communications 

developed to combat myths that might prevent victim-survivors from accessing safe 
accommodation.  The provider of the BME refuge and second stage 
accommodation services were awarded a commendation from Imkaan, a national 
accreditation body specific to domestic abuse and the 2025 domestic abuse needs 
assessment was completed.  Engagement activity from the domestic and sexual 
violence team evidenced input from 105 individuals 2024-25 and this work has been 
themed to enhance the understanding of local need.  A practitioners’ network has 
been developed to improve collaboration and communication, and the community 
champions network has been re-launched. 

 
4.7.4.   Community focused contracts support some of the largest numbers of adults and 

children with housing related need (including those who have received target 
hardening measures alongside the provision of specialist support considered as the 
‘Sanctuary18’ population) and pilots have been tested with co-locations and for 
specific populations (for example the young person’s safe accommodation pilot).          

 
 
4.8   Planned actions 

 
18 A type of safe accommodation defined in the regulations where victims do not leave their homes. 

81

https://www.imkaan.org.uk/


 

 

4.8.1.   The latest partnership domestic abuse needs assessment was signed off in June 
2025.  As part of this work members of the partnership considered the data over a 
series of workshops to connect their understanding of local practice, barriers and 
impact with the data collated.  This created a set of statements that can now be 
used to develop the next strategy and a new delivery plan.  (An executive summary 
is attached as Appendix Four) 

 
4.8.2.   Engagement and quality assurance work continues and is being used to build the 

picture of what we need to protect and improve, and what we are best placed to 
commission through use of the grant and the remaining local authority core budget 
for domestic abuse commissioning (which is not restricted to safe accommodation 
and revenue spend).  The community focus and sanctuary offer remains important 
to have the most impact on the largest number of adults and children and to seek 
to prevent such crises where people are forced to leave their home due to domestic 
abuse and the longer-term health impact such abuse can have. A discretionary 
support fund, and local Sanctuary provision is currently being explored alongside a 
longer-term commissioning strategy for refuge, safe accommodation and 
community support. Capital programme funds are being used in 2025 to complete 
a feasibility study on the best value options for securing the safe accommodation 
units required to meet local need.   

 
4.8.3.   The importance of a skilled and supported workforce continues to come through 

victim-survivor feedback and learning from domestic abuse related death reviews.  
The attitudes, skills and behaviours victim-survivors want from the workforce will 
inform the principles of the future strategy.    

 
4.8.4.   Communication work will continue.  We know that much domestic abuse is not 

spoken about, is not identified and takes place over years, with those suffering 
feeling alone and scared. There are populations that seem to have consistently 
lower levels of reporting, and we are likely to continue to work to raise the profile 
and seek to identify and address any additional barriers to support in these areas.    

 
    

 
5. Financial, legal, and other implications 
 
5.1 Financial implications  
 
Funding of £1,113,507 was received in 2025/26 as Domestic Abuse Safe 
Accommodation Grant. This funding has been made available to Children’s Services 
for the provision of domestic abuse services as outlined in this report. This grant is 
planned to be fully spent. This report does not add create any new costs and no 
additional funding is being requested. Rather it is an update on the provision of 
domestic abuse services in Leicester. 
 
Mohammed Irfan – Head of Finance 
09 October 2025 

 
5.2 Legal implications  
 
There are no legal implications arising from the recommendations in this briefing. 
 

82



 

 

Jenis Taylor, Project Lawyer, (Commercial) Legal Services 
 

 
5.3 Climate Change and Carbon Reduction implications  
 
There are limited climate emergency implications directly associated with this report, 
however the council has a vital role to play in addressing carbon emissions relating 
to housing and the delivery of its services, and those of its partners, including 
through its procurement and commissioning activities. 
 
Housing is one of the largest sources of carbon emissions in Leicester, responsible 
for 33% of the city’s carbon footprint. Addressing these emissions is vital to meeting 
our net zero ambition, particularly where the council has a higher level of influence 
and control through its role in housing provision. Therefore, any carbon emissions 
from commissioning and delivery of housing services should be considered and 
could include requiring and encouraging consideration of opportunities to provide 
safe accommodation that is energy efficient and low carbon. This should also help to 
ensure that housing reaches a high standard, increasing comfort levels for occupants 
and reducing energy costs. 
 
Carbon emissions from commissioning and delivery of services should be managed 
through use of the council’s sustainable procurement guidelines within tendering 
exercises, by requiring and encouraging consideration of opportunities for reducing 
emissions. This could include areas such as the use of low carbon and energy 
efficient buildings to deliver services, use of sustainable travel options and reduced 
consumption and waste of equipment and materials, as relevant and appropriate to 
the service. 
 
Phil Ball, Sustainability Officer, Ext 372246 
22 September 2025 

 
5.4 Equalities Implications 
 
Under the Equality Act 2010, public authorities have a Public Sector Equality Duty 
(PSED) which means that, in carrying out their functions, they have a statutory duty 
to pay due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation, to advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 
protected characteristic and those who don’t and to foster good relations between 
people who share a protected characteristic and those who don’t.  
 
Protected Characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 are age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex, sexual orientation.  
 
This report updates the Committee on the current landscape of domestic abuse in 
Leicester, outlining local needs, available services, and future strategies to enhance 
support. It highlights the diverse range of services accessible to individuals affected 
by domestic abuse in the city, while also acknowledging the importance of 
addressing how domestic abuse disproportionately impacts certain communities and 
individuals due to intersecting equality issues such as gender, race, disability, and 
sexual orientation.  
 

83



 

 

It provides an overview of the domestic abuse landscape in Leicester, highlighting 
both achievements in reaching diverse groups and ongoing challenges in addressing 
specific needs and ensuring equitable access to support. Domestic abuse can affect 
anyone, regardless of their protected characteristics. However, individuals with 
certain protected characteristics may experience domestic abuse differently, be 
disproportionately affected, or face additional barriers to accessing support. It is 
important to understand the specific reasons why different groups may be hesitant to 
report or seek help. Communication and engagement should be accessible and 
services need to be delivered in a way that is sensitive and effective for diverse 
groups of people, ensuring that support is not only available, but also accessible and 
appropriate for those who need it. 
 
Equalities Officer, Surinder Singh, Ext 37 4148 

 
5.5 Other Implications (You will need to have considered other implications in 
preparing this report.  Please indicate which ones apply?) 
 
 
6. Background information and other papers:  
7. Summary of appendices:  
      Leicester Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment 2025 Executive Summary 
      Domestic abuse safe accommodation strategy 
 
8. Is this a private report (If so, please indicated the reasons and state why it is 

not in the public interest to be dealt with publicly)?  
No 
 

9. Is this a “key decision”?   
No 
 

10. If a key decision, please explain reason 
 
 
Summary of appendices:  

• Appendix One - Safe Accommodation Definitions (below)  
• Appendix Two – Glossary (below)  
• Appendix Three – Assets (below)  
• Appendix Four - Leicester Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment Executive Summary 

2025 
 
 

  

84

https://www.leicester.gov.uk/your-council/policies-plans-and-strategies/public-safety/domestic-abuse-safe-accommodation-strategy/


 

 

1. Appendix One: Safe Accommodation Definition Table123F123F

19  
Refuge accommodation 
A refuge offers single gender or single sex accommodation and domestic abuse support which is tied to 
that accommodation. The address will not be publicly available. Victims, including their children, will have 
access to a planned programme of therapeutic and practical support from staff. Accommodation may be in 
shared or self-contained housing, but in both cases the service will enable peer support from other refuge 
residents. 

Specialist safe accommodation 
Specialist safe accommodation offering single gender or single sex accommodation, alongside dedicated 
domestic abuse support which is tailored to also support those who share particular protected 
characteristic(s) and/or who share one or more vulnerabilities requiring additional support. 
Accommodation may be in shared or self-contained housing, and the address will not be publicly available. 
This includes ‘By and For’ services where victims are able to see themselves reflected in the staffing, 
management and governance structures. ‘By and For’ services are designed and led by those that share 
the same protected characteristic(s) as the victims they aim to serve. For example, a specialist domestic 
abuse organisation that is led by Black and minoritised women and children, for Black and minoritised 
women and children. 

Dispersed accommodation 
i. Safe (secure and dedicated to supporting victims of domestic abuse), self-contained accommodation 
with a similar level of specialist domestic abuse support as provided within a refuge but which may be 
more suitable for victims who are unable to stay in a refuge with communal spaces, and/or where peer 
support from other residents may not be appropriate, due to complex support needs, or where older 
teenage sons cannot be accommodated in a women only refuge, for example. Where two or more units 
share any part of the accommodation, including shared hallways or access routes, provision should be 
single gender or single sex. 
ii. Safe (secure and dedicated to supporting victims of domestic abuse), self-contained ‘semi-independent’ 
accommodation which is not within a refuge but with support for victims who may not require the 
intensive support offered through refuge, but are still at risk of abuse from their perpetrator/s. Where two 
or more units share any part of the accommodation, including shared hallways or access routes, provision 
should be single gender or single sex. 

Sanctuary Schemes 
Sanctuary Schemes properties with local authority or private registered providers of social housing 
installed Sanctuary Schemes which provide enhanced physical security measures to a home or the 
perimeter of the home. A Sanctuary Scheme is a survivor centred initiative which aims to make it possible 
for victims of domestic abuse to remain in their own homes, where it is safe for them to do so, where it is 
their choice, and where the perpetrator does not live in the accommodation. This is done by providing 
additional security – ‘installing a sanctuary’ – to the victims’ property or perimeter. 

Second stage accommodation 

 
19 Delivery of support to victims of domestic abuse in domestic abuse safe accommodation services - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk) 

85

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-support-within-safe-accommodation/delivery-of-support-to-victims-of-domestic-abuse-in-domestic-abuse-safe-accommodation-services#part-a-key-definitions
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-support-within-safe-accommodation/delivery-of-support-to-victims-of-domestic-abuse-in-domestic-abuse-safe-accommodation-services#part-a-key-definitions


 

 

Accommodation temporarily provided to victims, including their children, who are moving on from other 
forms of relevant accommodation and/or who no longer need the intensive level of support provided in a 
refuge, but would still benefit from a lower level of domestic abuse specific support for a period before 
they move to fully independent and settled accommodation. Where second stage accommodation is in 
shared housing it should be single gender or single sex. There is no expectation that every victim will 
require this. Many victims are ready to move straight to a settled new home from refuge. However, 
second stage accommodation (sometimes known as ‘move-on’) may be helpful in some cases. 

Other forms of domestic abuse emergency accommodation 
A safe place (single gendered or single sex, secure and dedicated to supporting victims of domestic abuse) 
with domestic abuse support tied to the accommodation to enable victims to make informed decisions 
when leaving a perpetrator and seeking safe accommodation. For example, short term, 2-3 weeks 
accommodation providing victims with the space and safety to consider and make informed decisions 
about the options available to them. 

 

  

86



 

 

3. Appendix Two: Glossary of Common Terms and Acronyms 
Abbreviation or 
phrase 

Meaning 

ASB Anti-Social Behaviour.  This is defined as conduct that has caused – or is likely to cause – 
harassment, alarm, or distress to any person. 

ASC Adult Social Care is an area of work, generally within the local authority, which aims to help 
people stay independent, safe, and well so they can live their lives the way they want to. 

BME Black and Minority Ethnic, or Black and Minoritised Ethnicity.  This is a term sometimes used by 
government departments, public bodies, the media, and others when referring to ethnicity groups 
which might be at risk of not being served as well by generically/universally delivered services 
even though they represent a global majority.  A similar term used is BAME (Black, Asian, and 
Minority Ethnic).   

CAP Central Access Point.  A Leicestershire Partnership Trust service providing 24/7 mental health 
support for people in Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland. 

CAPVA  Child Against Parent Violence and Abuse.  This is a term to describe where a child or young person 
engages in repeated abusive behaviour towards a parent or adult carer. 

CCR Co-ordinated Community Response. A CCR brings together services including health, housing, 
social care, education, and criminal justice. along with communities, to ensure local systems keep 
survivors safe, hold abusers to account, and prevent domestic abuse. A CCR enables a whole 
system response to a whole person. 

CSC Children’s Social Care.  This is an area of work within a local authority. It is a service that assesses 
and protects children who are at risk of harm or whose safety is in danger. This can lead to 
statutory support for children, young people and families who need additional help and 
assistance, including where there are safeguarding concerns, and a child or young person requires 
protection.   

CSEW Crime Survey for England & Wales. This data set covers all types of crimes that are reported to, or 
recorded by, the police. There are also self-completion surveys which can include broader 
information on non-reported incidents including a range of domestic abuse behaviours.  

CYPFS Children Young Person and Family Service. This is a local authority contracted service delivered by 
Living Without Abuse 2022-2026 offering specialised local support for children and young people 
(0-19) affected by domestic abuse or sexual violence, and their caregivers/parents. Access to one-
to-one support, group programmes and parenting support.  

DAC The Domestic Abuse Commissioner. This position was established through the Domestic Abuse 
Act 2021 as an independent voice to raise awareness, stand with victims and survivors and hold 
local and national government to account on their response to domestic abuse. 

DALS Domestic Abuse Locality Service.  This is a contracted service in place 2022-2026.   The local 
authority commissioned contract provides for specialist support for victim-survivors of domestic 
abuse aged 16+. Practical and emotional support is offered through 1-1 support and group work, 
and this includes a rolling Freedom Programme group. 

DASH Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Honor Based Violence  
Dash risk assessment resources for professionals - SafeLives 
This is a tailored victim-focussed risk assessment process for domestic abuse, to assess risk of 
homicide or serious injury. 

DHR Domestic Homicide Review.  The term might be replaced in 2025 by DARDR Domestic homicide 
review legislation consultation: government response - GOV.UK  
A DHR or DARDR is a multi-agency response to identify learning from deaths thought related to 
domestic abuse.   

DLUHC Dept of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities.  Government department which sets policy on 
supporting local government; communities and neighbourhoods; regeneration; housing; planning, 
building etc (now known as MHCLG). 

DVDS The Domestic Violence Disclosure Scheme (also known as Clare’s Law).  This scheme covers two 
different pathways to request/know a person's history of abusive behaviour, for those who may 
be at risk from such behaviour. It is intended to reduce intimate partner violence and abuse. 

DVPN DV Protection Notice. This is an emergency non-molestation and eviction notice which can be 
issued by the police to a perpetrator in certain circumstances. Because the DVPN is a police-issued 
notice, it is effective from the time of issue, thereby giving the victim the immediate support they 
require in such a situation. Within 48 hours of the DVPN being served on the perpetrator, an 
application by police to a magistrates’ court for a DVPO must be heard. 

87

https://safelives.org.uk/resources-for-professionals/dash-resources/
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/domestic-homicide-review-legislation-consultation/outcome/domestic-homicide-review-legislation-consultation-government-response
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/domestic-homicide-review-legislation-consultation/outcome/domestic-homicide-review-legislation-consultation-government-response


 

 

DVPO DV Protection Order.  A civil Court Order requested by the police (might be extended to other 
parties in the future) that protects victims of domestic abuse by excluding the perpetrator from 
the address for a period. 

FGM Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) comprises all procedures involving the removal of the external 
female genitalia or other injury to the female genital organs for non-medical reasons, as defined 
by the World Health Organisation (WHO).  

FreeVa Free from Violence and Abuse. Domestic abuse and sexual violence charity in Leicester, 
Leicestershire, and Rutland.  

FSW Family Support Worker is a term sometimes used within a local authority setting or by VCS 
organisations.  A local authority FSW offers both practical and emotional assistance on a short- or 
long-term basis to families experiencing hardship, either at home or in the community. 

HALT Homicide Abuse Leaning Together.  This is a research network aiming to address important gaps in 
existing knowledge of domestic homicide and to influence policy and practice to prevent domestic 
homicide. 

HBA Honour based abuse.  Sometimes referred to as ‘So-called honour-based abuse’ to acknowledge 
that the use of violence against another to control their behaviour is not honourable.  This is a 
term used where the risk of abuse is linked to, and often raised by, perceptions of community or 
family shame being ‘caused by’ the person at risk of domestic abuse.   

HDEC Homelessness Declaration.  This is a key part of the local authority process of responding to 
homelessness. 

HES Helpline and Engagement Service. This is a PCC contracted service 2022-26 for domestic abuse 
and sexual violence information and support including onward referral to locality provision.  
Practitioners, third parties, those concerned about their own behaviour and victim-survivors can 
access this service.    

HLW Housing Link Worker. A pilot service which ran from December 2023 – March 2025 in Leicester, 
working across domestic abuse specialist support, housing management and homelessness 
services to improve access to safe accommodation.   

ICB Integrated Care Board (previously CCG).  The ICB is made up of NHS organisations responsible for 
planning health services for their local population. 

IDVA Independent Domestic Violence Advisor.  This is a specific role that was developed in domestic 
abuse work to hold a focus on effectively supporting those at high risk of homicide or serious 
injury in a co-ordinated and prompt manner, including court support.  There are now a range of 
training courses and accrediting bodies.  Some organisations will use the term and not only focus 
on those at high risk.  The IDVA will provide emotional and practical support to victims-survivors, 
co-ordinate support, and safety planning, and represents the victims’ voice at multi-agency 
meetings or through advocacy. 

Insights This is an anonymous monitoring system specific to domestic abuse that covers needs and 
outcomes. It is used by domestic abuse agencies across the UK. 

IPV Intimate Partner Violence.  This term is used to describe behaviour within an intimate relationship 
that causes physical, sexual, or psychological harm. As domestic abuse can be both familial and 
intimate partner based, this term is used to be specific to the type of relationship the abuse is 
occurring within.   

ISVA Independent Sexual Violence Advisor. ISVAs are specially trained workers who can provide 
support in relation to any sexual abuse an individual may have experienced; this can be recently 
or something that happened in the past. They can provide support through the criminal justice 
process. 

KPI Key Performance Indicator.  These tend to be headline data sets that can give an indication of 
direction of travel against desired objectives, monitored on a frequent basis (generally monthly or 
quarterly).   

LGBTQ+ Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, and Questionning + 
LLR Leicester, Leicestershire, and Rutland 
LPT Leicestershire Partnership Trust. A local health provider, the Trust provides mental health, 

learning disability and community health services across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 
LWA Living Without Abuse is a Domestic abuse and sexual violence charity in Leicester, Leicestershire, 

and Rutland.  
MARAC Multi- agency risk Assessment Conference.  This is a response to improve safety for those at the 

highest risk of homicide or serious injury.  The local MARAC meets daily Monday to Friday to 
discuss referred cases and action plan to improve safety.  

88



 

 

MDVAC Migrant Victim Domestic Abuse Concession.   Formerly known as the Destitution Domestic 
Violence Concession (DDVC),  

MHCLG Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government.  A government department which sets 
policy on supporting local government; communities and neighbourhoods; regeneration; housing; 
planning, building etc (formerly DLUHC). 

NFA No Further Action or No Fixed Abode (no permanent residence). 
NRM Nation Referral Mechanism.  A multi- agency approach that identifies and supports victims of 

modern slavery and human trafficking. 
NRPF No Recourse to Public Funds. When a person is unable to access government funding due to their 

immigration status 
OASIS This is a case management system that is used by some domestic abuse organisations. It is 

produced by a company called IT Works 
ONS Office for National Statistics 
OPCC Office of Police and the Police Crime Commissioner  
Panahghar Specialist support provider for women from Black and Minoritised Ethnicity Communities (BME). 

Providing free dedicated BME multilingual support, advice and advocacy and access to safe refuge 
for victim-survivors, and their families, of domestic abuse, sexual abuse or gendered abuse in 
Leicester and Coventry. 

PCSC Act Police, Crime, Sentencing and Courts Act 2022 
PEEL Police, Effectiveness, Efficiency, and Legitimacy report.  An annual assessment of police forces in 

England and Wales, undertaken by His Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and 
Rescue Services (HMICFRS). 

Power BI This is a data platform used locally as a way of managing and displaying data 
PSS Partner Support Services. These are part of Respect accredited perpetrator services for those 

wishing to change their behaviour. 
PTSD Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. This is a medical condition that someone may develop after 

experiencing distressing and traumatic events. 
S11 Section 17 of the Children Act 1989 imposes a general duty on Local Authorities to Safeguard and 

Promote the Welfare of Children who are 'in need' and to promote the upbringing of such 
children by their families by providing a range and level of services appropriate to those children's 
needs. Children Act 1989. Local procedures can be found at  Leicester and the Leicestershire and 
Rutland Safeguarding Children Partnerships Procedures Manual 

S42 Care Act 2014 Section 42. An adult Safeguarding Enquiry (Care Act s42) is the duty of local 
authority adult social care in relation to an adult with care and support needs who is unable to 
protect themselves from the abuse or neglect or the risk of it. Care Act 2014 

Sentinel This is a case management system that is currently used by police and some local authorities to 
record ASB cases that require a multi-agency approach.   

SPO Stalking Protection Order. A Stalking Protection Order is a civil order, the aim of which is to 
protect victims of stalking. It must be applied for by the police and is free of charge for the victim. 
The breach of an SPO is a criminal offence 

SRG The Scrutiny and Reference Group. This is a lived experience forum of local domestic abuse and 
sexual violence victim-survivors in Leicester. 

STADA Standing Together Against Domestic Abuse. A national charity bringing communities together to 
end domestic abuse.  

UHL University Hospital Leicester.   Created in April 2000 with the merger of the Leicester General 
Hospital, Glenfield Hospital and Leicester Royal Infirmary.  

VAWG Violence against Women and Girls. VAWG is any form of violence disproportionately perpetrated 
by men and boys against women and girls. It acknowledges the links to women’s inequality and 
includes sexual violence, domestic abuse, stalking and harassment, female genital mutilation, 
forced marriage and honour-based abuse, exploitation and abuse of women and girls in online 
spaces. It is not restricted to only abuse of women and girls.   

VCS Voluntary and Community Sector 
VRN Violence Reduction Network.  The government set up several Violence Reduction Units across the 

UK in 2019 as part of a preventative approach based. See Violence Reduction Units 2022 to 2023 - 
GOV.UK for some background information.  They are multi-agency and informed by local data. For 
local info see  Home | Violence Reduction Network  

WALL Women’s Aid Leicestershire Limited. A domestic abuse and sexual violence charity in Leicester, 
Leicestershire, and Rutland. 

89

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/17
https://llrscb.proceduresonline.com/
https://llrscb.proceduresonline.com/
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/section/42#:~:text=42Enquiry%20by%20local%20authority&text=(2)The%20local%20authority%20must,so%2C%20what%20and%20by%20whom.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/violence-reduction-units-year-ending-march-2023-evaluation-report/violence-reduction-units-2022-to-2023
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/violence-reduction-units-year-ending-march-2023-evaluation-report/violence-reduction-units-2022-to-2023
https://www.violencereductionnetwork.co.uk/


 

 

YPIDVA Young Person’s Independent Domestic Violence Advisor.  This is a domestic abuse specialist who 
provides emotional and practical support to victims-survivors under the age of 18 years, through 
risk assessment and safety planning, to reduce the risk posed by the perpetrator(s). 

 
  

90



 

 

4. Appendix Three: Local DSVA Assets Map 2024 
Criminal Justice Agencies Health Services DSVA Specific Voluntary and 

Community Sector 
OPCC - IDVAs, ISVAs, HES NHS England - SARC adult Women's Aid Leicestershire 

Limited 
OPCC - DA Perpetrator Programme NHS England - SARC child Panahghar Safehouse 
OPCC - DA Perp. Disposal Scheme (CARA) ICB - lead GP Living Without Abuse 

OPCC - Project 360 (assertive outreach) ICB - Women's Health Hubs Freeva 
OPCC - Victim First ICB - MARAC contribution 
OPCC - MARAC contribution ICB - Specialist Midwifery Team 

Police - MARAC contribution LPT - Safeguarding Team 
CPS – RASSO unit LPT - Homeless Mental Health 

Service (externally funded) 

Police - DAIU UHL - Safeguarding Team  

Police - Threat Assessment Unit 

Police - Adult Safeguarding Hub 

OPCC - sexual violence service 

ICB - Joy web resource 

 

Leicester City Council Individual Crossover Voluntary and 
Community Sector 

Commissioned - homelessness services Friends and Family Zinthiya Trust 

Commissioned - safe accommodation - 
47 units 

Employer, Education Provider, DWP New Dawn New Day 

Commissioned - public health offer 
including mental health programme, 
substance use programme, oral hygiene, 
stop smoking, 0-19 offer 

Local businesses, transport Shama Women's Centre 

Commissioned - community DA services 
DALs and CYPFS 

Places of Worship Turning Point 

Internal - Youth Service offer Community Venues Action Homeless 

Internal - ASC offer PA Housing 

Internal - CSC and EH offer East Midlands Housing 

Grant - Changing Futures 

 

Wesley Hall 

Internal - housing offer including tenancy 
support 

Partnerships 

Internal - Neighbourhood Services Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

Internal - Community Safety Mental Health Partnership Board 
 

Internal - MST and FFT Community Safety Partnership 
 

My Choice website 

MARAC contribution 

 

 
 

91





1 
 

Leicester Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment Summary 2025

Under the Domestic Abuse Act 2021, tier one authorities (like Leicester) 
must conduct a local needs assessment to determine the level of need for 
support within relevant safe accommodation in their area.  

The latest Leicester domestic abuse needs assessment (2025) looked at 
data from the first three years of the Act.   

The Domestic Abuse Locality Partnership Board (The Board) should 
consider the scale of the need and the nature of the needs for support for 
all victims including their children and those that come from out of area. 
The Board should consider victim’s journeys, and whether they are able to 
access the support they need. 

Police recorded domestic abuse offences and incidents, Leicester 2018-
2024 

 

Domestic abuse reports to local police have risen over the last five years. 
This can indicate a growing confidence in reporting and better recording 
practices. It might indicate high levels of repeat victimisation and wide 
prevalence of domestic abuse. As a city, Leicester has a relatively young 
population, which is associated with a higher rate of reported domestic 
abuse.   

Violent crime and domestic abuse in Leicester 2019-2024 

 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 
All violent crime  
 14,449 19,365 14,914 

Non-domestic abuse related 
violent crime  

9,659 13,364 10,240 

Domestic abuse related violent 
crime 4,790 6,001 4,674 

Proportion 
  

33% 31% 31% 

 

Domestic abuse consistently represents over 30% of the violent crime 
taking place in Leicester. There have been 24 domestic homicide reviews 
opened in Leicester since such reviews became a statutory duty in 2011, 
following a domestic abuse related death.   

Homelessness and domestic abuse in Leicester 2021-2024 

Declarations 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 
Singles 1,598 1,565 1,630 
Singles DV 121 83 111 
SING DV % 8% 5% 7% 
Families 1,137 1,191 1,229 
Families DV 125 130 107 
FAM DV % 11% 11% 9% 
All HDECs 2,735 2,756 2,859 
All DV 246 213 218 
TOTAL DV % 9% 8% 8% 

On average, 226 homeless declarations each year relate to domestic 
abuse. This reflects 8% of demand into homelessness. Domestic abuse 
remains one of the top reasons for homelessness in Leicester.   

Healthy Together discussions in Leicester 2022-24 

 

Data from Leicestershire Partnership Trust (LPT) services for pregnant 
women shows growing conversations about domestic abuse and a slight 
increase over time in advice being given around domestic abuse.   

Around 10% of victim-survivors being supported by commissioned support 
services were pregnant or had given birth in the last 12 months.  The 
number of women supported by commissioned domestic abuse services is 
not at the levels known to LPT. 

52% of victim-survivors referred to local safe accommodation had no 
children with them.   

Leicester Children’s Social Care Assessments where domestic abuse was 
recorded as a factor 2023-24 

 

40% of all children’s social care assessments feature domestic abuse and 
the numbers slightly increased through 2023-24. The proportion of contacts 
into children’s social care and early help related to domestic abuse which 
result in no further action has also increased during this period.   

Leicester children becoming subject to a child protection plan where 
domestic abuse was a factor 2019-2024 

 

Many children going on to child protection plans are living with domestic 
abuse and the proportion is growing over time. Domestic abuse is a factor 
recorded in many child protection re-registrations (this could be with the 
same or a new perpetrator of abuse). 

7651 7700
8566

8182
7747

2583
3230 3299 3208 3105

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

9000

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Offences Incidents

Linear (Offences) Linear (Incidents)

0

10

20

30

40

50

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

Q2
22/23

Q3
22/23

Q4
22/23

Q1
23/24

Q2
23/24

Q3
23/24

Q4
23/24

Ad
vi

ce
 a

bo
ut

 d
om

es
tic

 v
io

le
nc

e

Do
m

es
tic

 v
io

le
nc

e 
no

t d
isc

us
se

d 
an

d 
Di

sc
us

sio
n 

ab
ou

t m
at

er
na

l w
el

lb
ei

ng

Discussion about maternal wellbeing linked to domestic violence

Domestic violence not discussed

Advice about domestic violence

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35

Apr
2023

May
2023

Jun
2023

Jul
2023

Aug
2023

Sep
2023

Oct
2023

Nov
2023

Dec
2023

Jan
2024

Feb
2024

Mar
2024

N
o.

 o
f a

ss
es

sm
en

ts

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

0

20

40

60

80

100

O
ct

-1
9

Fe
b-

20

Ju
n-

20

O
ct

-2
0

Fe
b-

21

Ju
n-

21

O
ct

-2
1

Fe
b-

22

Ju
n-

22

O
ct

-2
2

Fe
b-

23

Ju
n-

23

O
ct

-2
3

Fe
b-

24

Ju
n-

24

%
 o

f c
hi

ld
re

n

N
o.

 o
f c

hi
ld

re
n

No. of children becoming the subject of a CP Plan

% of children becoming the subject of a CP Plan during the period where DA
was a factor

93

Appendix 4



2 
 

Leicester Supporting Families Domestic Abuse Need 2022-24 

 

The number of families identified locally as having multiple needs, of which 
domestic abuse is one, is growing over time, as is evidence of those needs 
being met. There have been changes in recording practices over this period. 

Comparator city individuals supported in domestic abuse safe 
accommodation services 2023-24 1

  Female 
adults 

Male 
adults Children  Total individuals 

supported 
Total 

Per 10,000 

Luton 58 0 19 77 3.4 

Nottingham 459 0 91 550 17 

Coventry 431 6 145 582 16.9 

Leicester 363 2 345 710 19.3 

Birmingham 945 14 1,498 2,460 1.5 

Bradford 414 262 382 1,062 19.4 

Data on the safe accommodation related support duty is published 
annually by the MHCLG. There are vast differences across local authorities, 
potentially connected to the data set being introduced in 2021. Leicester is 
generally ‘mid-table’ when compared to similar local authorities, with a 
police reporting rate per 1,000 population of 22.2. Leicester has the highest 
rate of individuals supported per 10,000 population (based on the 2023-24 
data set and 2021 census).    

Leicester domestic abuse victim-survivor ethnicity across commissioned 
services 2022-24, compared to latest Census data

ETHNICITY 
(condensed 
categories) 

2021 
Census 

2023-24 
Commissioned 
Support 
Proportion 

Direction 
of travel 
since 
2022 

2023-24 
Difference 
to Census 

Asian or Asian British 43.4% 33.8% Up -9.6% 
Black or Black British: 7.7% 7.0% Down -0.7% 
Mixed Race 3.8% 5.9% Up 2.1% 
Other Ethnic Group: 4.1% 4.3% Up 0.2% 
White: 40.6% 46.8% Down 6.2% 
TOTAL BME 59.0% 57.0% Up -2.0% 
TOTAL WHITE 
BRITISH 33.2% 40.8% Down 7.6% 

The commissioned support services reflect a population very close the 
local census and what would be expected when considering national 
prevalence data for domestic abuse, which affects all communities and all 
demographics, evidencing great reach. Younger populations are expected 
to experience higher levels of domestic abuse, although there remains a 
risk that for older adults, domestic abuse is not recognised. There is 
evidence of both men and women accessing support locally, and Lesbian, 
Gay and Bisexual victim-survivors are reflected at the recommended2 
levels. 

 
1 Source: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/support-in-domestic-abuse-safe-
accommodation-2023-to-2024 

Recording of Leicester domestic abuse victim-survivor disability across 
commissioned services 2022-24 

Disability  Total 

Number of adults recorded as disabled 1,252 

Adults with no disability 910 

Total number of adults 2,162 

Percentage identified as disabled 58% 

Disability is at higher levels than the local census and examples provided 
showed the range of impairments victim-survivors are living with, in many 
instances as an impact of the domestic abuse they have experienced.   

‘Client was beaten so badly she was put into an induced coma and now has 
to use a walking frame.’ 

‘Person of Concern pushed her to the wall till she fell … which made her 
lose her complete mobility and now walks with a stick.’ 

Leicester domestic abuse adult victim abuse profile at intake year ending 
March 2024 

 

The abuse profile for Leicester domestic abuse victim-survivors shows 
higher proportions of high jealous and controlling and physical abuse when 
compared to the national Insights3 data set. This is likely to impact on 
recovery and support needs. 

Length of stay in Leicester refuges 2023-24, measured at exit 

  Refuge % of total 
0-1 month 12 19% 

1 to < 3 months 15 23% 

3 to < 6 months 11 17% 

6 to < 12 months 15 23% 

12 to < 24 months 11 17% 

Timely move on from safe accommodation in Leicester remains a 
challenge, exacerbated by the national housing shortage and for some 
victim-survivors, a complex immigration status. There has been positive 
progress through the introduction of new ways of working between 
homelessness and the commissioned support providers, and 59% of stays 
were less than six months in 2023-24. 

Numbers of Leicester refuge referrals unable to be accommodated due to 
lack of suitable space 2022-24 

  
Referrals 

2022-23 2023-24 

General 
Refuge 

BME 
Refuge Total General 

Refuge 
BME 

Refuge Total 

139 111 250 125 156 281 

2 Safe Lives MARAC data recommendations 
3 Our insights system and data - SafeLives 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40

N
o.

 o
f c

as
es

SF – Domestic abuse need identified for child

SF – Domestic abuse need identified for child was met

Linear (SF – Domestic abuse need identified for child)

Linear (SF – Domestic abuse need identified for child was met)

35%

14%
25%

37%

18%

7%

12%

18%

14%

7%

18%

19%

Physical Sexual Harassment and
stalking

Jealous and
controlling

High Moderate Standard

94

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/support-in-domestic-abuse-safe-accommodation-2023-to-2024
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/support-in-domestic-abuse-safe-accommodation-2023-to-2024
https://safelives.org.uk/research-policy/practitioner-datasets/insights-data/


3 
 

Despite the high numbers of recorded need for the available safe 
accommodation, there were higher numbers of vacancies in the 
commissioned accommodation than in previous years, with victim-
survivors often declining the offer of safe accommodation, sometimes as 
they had another offer at the same time out of area, or due to the room not 
being appropriate to their health needs.   

Reasons a client was unable to be accommodated in Leicester 
commissioned safe accommodation 2023-24 (‘no available 
accommodation’ not included) 

 

The Board reviews annually all circumstances that a victim-survivor could 
not be accommodated due to their need, to inform changes in the local 
response.  The most common reason victim-survivors could not be 
accommodated was that they had no recourse to public funds (NRPF). 
Many victim-survivors with NRPF do move in successfully to safe 
accommodation, but this remains a significant barrier locally. 

Leicester commissioned Children, Young People, and Families Service 
child impact surveys for under 11s 

 

Examples of feedback from Leicester domestic abuse victim-
survivors and local practitioners: 

“Service was very good. It has opened my eyes in regards of the 
impact of domestic violence on children.” 

“Children were listened to, and at the forefront of the interventions, 
with caring understanding staff.” 

“I believe you have to have a passion to work with BME women and 
children fleeing DA. I love working at Panahghar, I am very proud of 
the service we deliver together, we work with the service user to 
tailor our support around the service user’s needs, we adapt our 
service to meet their needs.” 

“I was very afraid of coming to the 
refuge but when I arrived, I was 
made to feel comfortable and 
welcome.”  

 
4 Multi-agency safeguarding and domestic abuse accessed 23/10/25 

Leicester commissioned service victim-survivor outcomes (Insights Data) 
2021-24 

Examples of local impact for domestic abuse victim-survivors, 2021-24 

 

Four Core Practice Principles that should underpin practice 
approaches when working with domestic abuse (CSPR Panel 2022 4) 

 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35

Unable to
meet
needs
around

disability

Unable to
meet
needs
around
drugs

Unable to
meet
needs
around
alcohol

Unable to
meet
needs
around
large
family

Unable to
meet
needs
around
mental
health

Cannot
support

financially
(NRPF)

Not safe
in the area

BME General

3% 4% 4% 2% 4%

14% 15%
21% 24% 24%

45%
48%

45% 44% 43%

38%
33% 31% 30% 29%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

I feel safer I feel that my
wellbeing has

improved

I feel that my
quality of life
has improved

I feel
optimistic
about the

future

I feel more
confident in

myself

Disagree strongly Disagree Not certain Agree Strongly agree

"You always make me feel like I can do anything and I can see the light at the 
end of the tunnel now. You always said I would, but I never believed it" (YP3)

"For the first time after 18 years I spoke to someone where I felt safe. I was 
able to talk in my language and the staff understood me. I felt like a weight 

has been lifted off my shoulder. My son said to me Mum I love our new home 
I feel safe tears come down my eyes." (A5)

"That night when I went to sleep was the first time me and children felt safe, 
the buiding was secure, nice to see other omen from my community I felt I 

was not alone." (A2)  

" We also have (...) who we have supported to do some volunteering at a care 
home which is local and this is proving to be a fantastic way of getting 
independence This has now turned into a paid job which she is thrilled 

about." (P1)

Evaluation from under 11s 2022-24 

I feel safe 93% 

I can have fun 93% 

It has been helpful to me 91% 

I can talk freely 87% 

It has made life better 83% 

I feel listened to 90% 

95

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/63344c9d8fa8f506587dd138/14.149_DFE_Child_safeguarding_Domestic_PB2_v4a.pdf




Page 1 of 3 
 

Frequently Asked Questions 
How do I help someone? 
The easiest thing to remember is the helpline number, which is free to phone and is 
not recorded on bills: 0808 80 200 28.  Ask DSVTeam@leicester.gov.uk for flyers or 
posters. Have these visible in public places, waiting areas and inside toilet doors. You 
can share the number, or you can help someone by providing a safe space to make 
the call. You can share the information about the website in the same way 
freeva.org.uk. All the domestic abuse services someone can access are listed on the 
website, alongside referral information. You can also find out about other services 
such as housing support on our website leicester.gov.uk/domesticabuse 

IN AN EMERGENCY WHERE THERE IS AN IMMINENT RISK TO LIFE AND/OR 
SERIOUS INJURY, ALWAYS TELEPHONE 999. 

What kind of help is available? 
There is a broad range of support and information available locally, and access to 
national networks of support. Having someone to listen, who understands, is often 
the most important help someone can get. Emotional and practical help is available, 
with a range of agencies locally wanting to make a positive difference and increase 
safety. Being in a group with others and working through the impact of abuse can be 
very positive and powerful. Having someone advocate for you and liaise with other 
agencies can help. Locally commissioned services can offer all these elements, and 
have staff trained and supported to do so, throughout the recovery process. 

Is there help for men and women? 
There is help for men and women who have been subjected to sexual violence or 
domestic abuse, whoever that is from. Men can sometimes think a service is not ‘for 
them’ so it might be important to reassure them that they are not the first to 
experience abuse and that the expertise is there; even if they want to just find out 
more information and discuss their options. 

Is there help for children and families? 
There is specialist help for young people, children, and families. There are: 

• support groups and individual work  
• parallel groups that can run for adult/victim and child/ren.  
• tailored options for different ages of children  

Leicester Specialist Domestic Abuse and Sexual 
Violence Services  

97

Appendix 5

mailto:DSVTeam@leicester.gov.uk
https://www.freeva.org.uk/
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/domesticabuse


Page 2 of 3 
 

• groups running in languages other than English, and support workers fluent in 
a range of community languages. 

What about those using harmful behaviours? 
Men and women concerned about their own behaviour, including young people, can 
contact the local services for help. There is a specialist provider working with young 
people using violence and adults perpetrating domestic abuse.   

Will there be a wait for services? 
There will be some form of support that can be offered straight away, where needed. 
Sometimes there might be a wait for a group at a particular time or place, or to start 
individual face-to-face support. There will be active contact at an agreed frequency 
and reviews of ongoing risks. No-one should wait more than six weeks to be able to 
access support, and if risks and needs are high it should be within 48 hours.  There 
are rolling Freedom Programme groups running weekly. 

Can someone in paid work access a refuge? 
Yes, sometimes. Local providers of safe accommodation are working to reduce any 
barriers for victims to access safety. They have support schemes in place, including 
how to manage rental charges in a refuge if you are in employment or studying. 

Will services help someone with insecure immigration status? 
People can access support whether they have secure immigration status or not. 
Sometimes if a victim of domestic abuse has no recourse to public funds, it can be 
harder to find safe accommodation if there is no availability locally, or if the 
concession has not been applied for, but there are no commissioning restrictions to 
our domestic abuse safe accommodation support, and there are pathways to 
immigration support. 

98



Page 3 of 3 
 

 

Is there an IDVA (Independent Domestic Violence Advisor) Service? 
The new services work across all levels of risk so that people don’t have to change 
service or worker as the risks they face change.  This was a key part of what those 
who had suffered abuse said was important when we were commissioning.  There are 
at least 12 trained IDVA roles across the new service system, and approximately a 
further 20 funded through other grants.  All support staff in the new service system 
will have had thorough training and a programme of continued professional 
development. Providers must meet national quality standards such as those set by 
Women’s Aid Federation England, Imkaan, Respect and the Department for Levelling 
Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC).   

 

How can I give feedback about services I have used? 
If you have feedback on the locally commissioned services, please use the feedback 
form on our website leicester.gov.uk/domesticabuse 

99

https://www.leicester.gov.uk/domesticabuse



	Agenda
	4 Executive Response - Scrutiny Review - A Review of Support for Adventure Playgrounds
	Executive response to OSC task group on the review of support to adventure playgrounds
	1 December 2025


	5 Executive Response - Scrutiny Review - A Review of the Changes to the Council Tax Support Scheme
	Executive response to OSC task group on the Council Tax Support Scheme (CTSS)
	1 December 2025


	6 Corporate Estate Annual Report FY24/25
	The Corporate Estate Annual Report 24.25 FINAL

	7 Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence in Leicester - Briefing
	1.	Appendix One: Safe Accommodation Definition Table123F123F
	3.	Appendix Two: Glossary of Common Terms and Acronyms
	4.	Appendix Three: Local DSVA Assets Map 2024
	Appendix 4 - Leicester Domestic Abuse Needs Assessment Summary 2025
	Appendix 5 - Specialist Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Services FAQs updated 12 Jan 2024 SMcB
	Frequently Asked Questions
	How do I help someone?
	What kind of help is available?
	Is there help for men and women?
	Is there help for children and families?

	Leicester Specialist Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Services
	What about those using harmful behaviours?
	Will there be a wait for services?
	Can someone in paid work access a refuge?
	Will services help someone with insecure immigration status?
	Is there an IDVA (Independent Domestic Violence Advisor) Service?
	The new services work across all levels of risk so that people don’t have to change service or worker as the risks they face change.  This was a key part of what those who had suffered abuse said was important when we were commissioning.  There are at least 12 trained IDVA roles across the new service system, and approximately a further 20 funded through other grants.  All support staff in the new service system will have had thorough training and a programme of continued professional development. Providers must meet national quality standards such as those set by Women’s Aid Federation England, Imkaan, Respect and the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC).
	How can I give feedback about services I have used?




